

Maximum or minimum?

Policy options for democratisation initiatives in UN Peace Operations

Katarina Ammitzbøll Stina Torjesen



NUPI Report

Utgiver: NUPI

Copyright: © Norsk Utenrikspolitisk Institutt [mai 2007]

ISSN: 82-7002-164-4 ISBN: 978-82-7002-164-2

Alle synspunkter står for forfatternes regning. De må ikke tolkes som uttrykk for oppfatninger som kan tillegges Norsk Utenrikspolitisk Institutt. Artiklene kan ikke reproduseres – helt eller delvis – ved trykking, fotokopiering eller på annen måte uten tillatelse fra forfatterne.

Any views expressed in this publication are those of the author. They should not be interpreted as reflecting the views of the Norwegian Institute of International Affairs. The text may not be printed in part or in full without the permission of the author.

Besøksadresse: C.J. Hambrosplass 2d Addresse: Postboks 8159 Dep.

0033 Oslo
Internett: www.nupi.no
E-post: pub@nupi.no
Fax: [+ 47] 22 36 21 82
Tel: [+ 47] 22 99 40 00

Maximum or minimum?

Policy options for democratisation initiatives in UN Peace Operations

Katarina Ammitzbøll Stina Torjesen

Acknowledgements

Many people have provided valuable information, comments and inspiration for this study. We are particularly grateful for support from Margie Cook, Peter Erben, Kathleen Jennings, Bruce Jones, Paul Keating, Ray Kennedy, Herve LeCoq, Michael Møller, Richard Ponzio and Scott Smith

We also appreciate the helpful support from the NUPI staff, including Anja T. Kaspersen, Barry Kavanagh, Frode Løvik, Kari Osland, Kristina L. Revheim, Ole-Jacob Sending, Eli Stamnes, Ståle Ulriksen and Andreas Vogt. We are grateful for the tireless assistance provided by the library staff, especially by Tore Gustavsson, and by our research assistant Fredrik Eugen Christiansen. Susan Høivik, our language editor, also deserves particular praise for her efforts.

Lastly we wish to thank Lars Petter Henie and Håkon Gram Johansen of the Norwegian Ministry of Foreign Affairs for constructive guidance. We also thank the Ministry for financial assistance for the writing of this report.

Contents

About the authors	 9
Executeve Summary	 11
1. Introduction	 15
2. Theory perspectives: can democratisation succeed?	 21
3. Strategic choices: Maximum or minimum democratisation	25
4. UN Security Council Mandates	29
5. UN and democratisation: structures and strategies	33
6. Democratisation: lessons from Afghanistan and East Timor	 37
7. Policy options and possible risks: Maximum and minimum democratisation	 47
8. Concluding comments	 53
Annexes	 57
References	 59

About the authors

Katarina Ammitzbøll (<u>ka@ammitzboell.org</u>) has recently served as Democratisation Expert with the European Commission in Afghanistan. Prior to that she was Assistant Country Director for UNDP Afghanistan, responsible for state-building and democratic governance. She also has experience from East Timor, Burundi, Mozambique, South Africa, the Middle East and UN headquarters. She holds an MA in International Development Studies from Roskilde University, Denmark, and an LLM in International Human Rights Law and Islamic Law from Warwick University, UK.

Stina Torjesen (st@nupi.no) is a Research Fellow at NUPI and a Doctoral Candidate in International Relations at St. Antony's College, University of Oxford. She has previously worked with UNDP Kazakhstan and has also carried out several in-depth studies of the post-war stabilisation process in Tajikistan.

Executive summary

UN peace operations have become more complex since the end of the 1990s. In most operations the UN has been mandated to organise elections and support state-building. Only in very few cases, however, has democratisation been an officially articulated task in Security Council mandates – despite the stress often placed on democratisation in high-level policy documents. This indicates ambiguity within the UN system as to whether the rhetoric on democratisation expressed in key UN reports is in fact meant to be translated into the guiding principles in UN peace operations.

While this ambiguity is problematic, a far more serious concern is the following: The UN has not developed the guidelines and operational strategies necessary for ensuring that 'elections [are supported by] a broader process of democratisation and civil society building that includes effective civilian governance and culture of respect for basic human rights'. Several high-level DPKO representatives interviewed for this report confirmed that no standard procedures have been developed with regard to democratisation.²

After conflict, peace agreements usually make concrete provisions for elections, as well as to the establishment and functioning of political institutions. The stipulations in peace agreements often serve as a road map, binding and focusing the UN peace operation to work towards fulfilling the aims embodied within it. The increasing prominence and comprehensiveness of peace agreements is in many ways a highly positive development, since, by letting peace agreements assume a strategic function, local ownership is enhanced. On the other hand, it is important to stress that, by failing to elaborate generic guiding principles, UN operations risk becoming reactive and incapable of quickly developing plans at the field level to ensure that, during a mission and working within the bounds of the peace agreement, broader issues of democratisation can be entrenched in the best possible manner.

Peace agreements could usefully be complemented by rigorous strategising in the UN on how best to capitalise on the provisions of a peace settlement. Moreover, there are some key structural challenges with regard to the UN system's efforts in the sphere of democratisation. The division of labour between the Department of Peacekeeping Operations (DPKO) and the Department of Political Affairs (DPA) is still not entirely clear, and there are some difficulties with the roles these two agencies are intended to fulfil in democratisation efforts.

The deficits in strategising at headquarter level serve to generate a further strategy deficit at country level: there do not seem to be any formal templates or guidance to mission staff on how they can best interact with political actors and generate systematic knowledge on formal and informal political processes in the host country, which may feed into potential democratisation strategies.

² Interview UN representative 3 May 2006, Interview UN representative 19 May 2006.

¹ Report of the panel on United Nations Peace Operations A/557305-S 2000/809.

This reports aims at a preliminary stocktaking of UN efforts in the sphere of democratisation, while also highlighting two policy options or 'ideal type' strategies related to democratisation.

One – a *minimum policy option* – holds that the UN should give priority to security in peace operations. Apart from ensuring the formation of a national government through a consultative process or national elections, the UN should postpone wider democratisation efforts. The other – a *maximum policy option* – encourages the UN to seize the momentum that a UN peacebuilding intervention may generate and take comprehensive steps to facilitate democratisation through, among other things: conducting national and local elections; encouraging the introduction of good governance, democratic practices and rule of law in government institutions at central and local levels; and, importantly, invigorating the formal and informal elements of civil society.

The principal argument for a minimum approach is that a political system and a state cannot be created by external actors but should develop from within. By contrast, the underlying assumption of a maximum strategy is that external assistance can create successful conflict transformation and build peace. In a maximum strategy, security and elections are seen as elements of a larger endeavour towards ensuring political transition.

Both policy options carry significant risks.

A minimum approach to democratisation may result in:

- a snowball effect: limited engagement triggers the need for more involvement
- new centralisation and unaccountable leaders
- inability to sustain democratisation
- unfulfilled expectations
- perpetuating the role of civil war actors.

A maximum approach may trigger:

- unintended consequences of deep-seated UN involvement
- excessive demands on time, preparation and UN expertise
- inconsistency between intentions versus planning skills and implementation
- funding shortages
- foregoing UN neutrality in the post-conflict country
- the 'laundry list' syndrome too many UN agencies seeking a share of funding and involvement in the activities of an operation.

The report also singles out the range of sub-components which may form part of democratisation strategies (see Table A).

Table A: Democratisation sub-components

	Democratisation components	Minimum democratisation	Maximum democratisation
1	Duration	Short time-span for democratisation efforts	Long time-span for democratisation efforts
2	Timing	Key democratisation activities initiated early in the mission period	Key democratisation activities initiated late in the mission period
3	Scope	Efforts to enhance popular political participation at national level through conducting/assisting with a national election	Efforts to enhance popular political participation at local, regional and national levels
4	Local knowledge	Few efforts at obtaining in-depth knowledge of social and political organisation and process – for- mal and informal	Major efforts at obtaining in-depth knowledge of social and political organisation and process – formal and informal
5	Design of electoral and political sys- tem	Little assistance and limited time allocated for the development of optimal electoral and political systems	Major assistance and extensive time allocated for the development of optimal electoral and political systems
6	Events versus process	Assistance focused on elections, seen as a one-time <i>event</i> and key output	Assistance focused on elections but also on strengthening media, ensuring representation and participation of vulnerable groups, enhancing democratic functioning of government institutions. Elections form part of an overall and long-term process to stimulate democratic awareness in the population, trigger political mobilisation (including party formation) and build a culture of peaceful political solution to conflict and grievance
7	Financial re- sources	Low relative or low absolute levels of spending on democratisation initiatives	High relative or absolute levels of spending on democratisation initiatives

This report presents findings from two recent peace operations: East Timor and Afghanistan. While both operations produced significant achievements, the two cases also represent important failures. In East Timor, UN dominance in the transitional administration and lack of local consultation combined with mostly 'minimal' democratisation strategies seem to have fostered authoritarian dominance by the national party 'Freitlin', rather than entrenching pluralism and participation. In Afghanistan, the principle of ownership and fostering national decision-making was applied in combination with a maximum democratisation strategy. However, this strategy was jeopardised by, among other things, limited international stabilisation assistance, and overly ambitious time-plans and 'projectisation'. In order to mobilise additional funds, the Afghan democratisation process was broken down into individual and time-bound projects with separate and limited budgets. This caused interruptions and delays due to time-consuming resource mobilisation efforts, unclear division of labour among the various UN bodies, breakdown of institutional memory and high staff turnover.

Many of the issues raised in this report may be important for the UN Peacebuilding Commission to consider. In the conclusion we indicate how our findings could be relevant to the work of the Commission.

1. Introduction

UN assistance to post-conflict areas is increasingly focused on peacebuilding.³ In addition, several ongoing and major reform initiatives of the UN system have been initiated with the aim of enhancing the abilities of the organisation to build lasting peace effectively in war-torn societies⁴ Democratisation is an important aspect of peacebuilding. This report synthesises insights on democratisation in UN peace operations and outlines policy options for how the UN can best help democracy to become entrenched in post-conflict societies.

We present one minimum policy option and one maximum policy option. The *minimum* policy option holds that the UN should give priority to security and preserving the peace. Apart from ensuring the formation of a national government through a consultative process or national elections, it should postpone wider democratisation efforts, and instead encourage actors other than those associated with UN secretariat structures to take the lead at later stages.

The *maximum policy option* encourages the UN to seize the momentum that a UN peace-building intervention may generate and take comprehensive steps to facilitate democratisation through, among other things: conducting national and local elections; encouraging the introduction of good governance, democratic practices and rule of law in government institutions at central and local levels; and, importantly, invigorating the formal and informal elements of civil society.

An *underlying argument* of this report is that different policy options match differing conditions in host societies. We make two proposals: First, we reiterate the need for the UN to enhance its ability to formulate and adhere to overall strategies and concepts – a recommendation put forth by several reports prior to this one. (See also Call, 2005; Sens, 2004; Tschirgi, 2004.) We recommend more explicit thinking and formulation of visions within the UN system on how the world organisation may promote its democracy agenda in specific contexts. Second, we propose that UN decision-makers be allowed greater flexibility in setting goals and designing components of specific peace operations. In some contexts, an ambitious and broad democratisation agenda, in combination with a compressed timetable, might not always be an optimum strategy.

We have chosen to limit the definition of 'democratisation' to those activities undertaken by UN peace operations that aim to increasing popular political participation.⁵ This may

_

³ Report of the panel on United Nations Peace Operations A/557305-S 2000/809, 2005 World Summit Outcome A/60/L.1.

⁴ In the context of peace operations, the most significant of these is the establishment of a new Peacebuilding Commission (PBC), 2005 World Summit Outcome A/60/L.1.

⁵ We will later discuss maximum and minimum versions of democratisation strategies. While the focus in this report is on *UN activities that foster political participation*, our definitions share some affinity with Jean Grugel's (2002) concepts of maximalist and minimalist democratisation: 'the basic minimalist definition sees democratization as the regular holding of clean elections and the introduction of basic norms).....[maximalist democratisation] is the introduction and extension of citizenship rights and the creation of a democratic state.

be facilitated through conducting or building national capacity for carrying out elections and voter education, supporting civil society and strengthening independent media. It also includes all technical assistance that enhances the democratic functioning of government structures: this may take the form of increasing public insight and accountability in state administration and encouraging open, predictable and law-based dialogue between the state and citizenry at the local, regional or national levels.

Peacebuilding is the sum of all actions undertaken at the end of a civil conflict to consolidate peace and prevent the recurrence of fighting (see Paris, 2005: 38). Democratisation has increasingly formed an integral part of such efforts. As noted above, in this report we are particularly interested in the type of actions undertaken by UN peace operations at the end of a conflict which are associated with efforts to facilitate popular political participation, whether directly or indirectly. Democratisation is also closely linked to state-building – which, however, will not be a major focus here.

Since the end of the Cold War, strong commitment has been voiced within the UN to a form of peacebuilding that encompasses democratisation – especially since the Agenda for Democratisation of 1996 and the High-Level Panel Report (the *Brahimi Report*) of 2001. This makes democratisation a relevant test case for the extent to which the UN has managed to transform overall visions into corresponding strategies, adjust organisational structures, and ensure implementation of new policies derived from innovative visions. In this report we assess separately and in detail one key component (democratisation) of the complex set of activities the UN engages in after the end of conflicts. It can be argued that, due to its all-encompassing reach, studies of peacebuilding tend to generate conceptual imprecision (see Zisk Marten, 2004). Assessing one smaller component of overall UN efforts to build and consolidate peace may prove to be a constructive way of advancing our knowledge not only on democracy issues in post-conflict societies, but also on the extent to which the UN can effectively advance its proclaimed peacebuilding agenda.

_

⁶ Alternatively, it could be argued that peacebuilding efforts are the means by which the UN seeks to achieve the end-goal of democracy.

⁷ The aim of state-building is to create a state that exercises legitimate and effective authority throughout the national territory and upholds the rule of law. It seeks to ensure that the state has a monopoly over the use of armed force, the ability to raise necessary revenues, and that the state institutions are capable of carrying out its administrative tasks effectively.

⁸ Report of the panel on United Nations Peace Operations A/557305-S 2000/809; Boutros-Ghali1996: 19.

⁹ Moreover, there are relatively few documented experiences or comprehensive theories on how democratisation supports – or works to undermine – peacebuilding efforts. One exception is Jarstad, 2005.

Underlying challenges

The ambitious commitment set out in UN reports to encourage peace and democracy in post-conflict zones stands in sharp contrast to several serious challenges. First, transition to democracy is difficult. As Thomas Carothers (1999) notes, of the nearly 100 countries considered to be 'transitional democracies' in recent years, only one fifth are clearly en route to becoming 'successful, well–functioning democracies' or enjoy a positive dynamic of democratisation. In war-torn states, democratisation has proven particularly difficult (see annex).¹⁰

Secondly, external actors attempting to build institutions in war-torn countries may face dilemmas commonly associated with social engineering. Outside engagement will often be driven by 'an instrumental need to standardise complex, dynamic and unique circumstance of local environments'. This hinders outside agents like the UN in fully grasping local political contexts and makes it less likely that technical assistance for democratisation will succeed. Moreover, UN assistance and presence in a country will not by itself transform the power, interest or preferences of major political forces, especially the preferences of those who are not supportive of democratic transformation. Any democratisation effort will necessarily be hostage to the strategies and behaviour of local actors.

Finally, there seem to be some structural flaws in the ways in which the UN system engages in war-torn countries. An immediate and central problem to be highlighted in this report is the following paradox: democratisation is a long-term process, but the UN engages in peacebuilding and democratisation with short-term time-frames. Resolutions of the UN Security Council (UNSC), for example, are usually for consecutive six-month periods. Moreover, the apparent absence of a definite division of labour and clarification of roles and leadership between UN country teams and UNSC-mandated interventions makes for confusion and sub-optimal resource utilisation at field level – despite recent efforts to solve these issues with the Integrated Missions concept. (See Eide et al., 2005;

⁻

¹⁰ Carothers (2002) has also argued against the notion that all countries that end an autocratic regime or starts a new after conflict may be labelled in transition toward democracy and that democratisations follows a logical progression from 'opening' to 'breakthrough' and consolidation. This rationale is based on a considerable belief in the importance of elections as a core function. It is widely recognised that elections are not a panacea; nevertheless, high expectations to what elections can achieve still prevail, as indicated in the emphasis placed on elections. Further, the fourth assumption is that general conditions such as economic development, political history, and social and cultural fabric are subservient to a democratic transition: such factors are will adjust automatically, tailored by a redesign of institutions matching the new political governance system. Reality shows that most 'transitional countries' do not follow a linear progression but fall into a 'grey zone' of pseudo-democracies suffering from democratic deficits, including lack of broad representation and participation, abuse of power and violation of human rights.

¹¹ Scott, 1998, quoted in Labonte, 2003. In assessing Afghanistan, Astri Suhrke (2006: 30–31) has similarly stressed how compressed timetable for political liberalisation created fear among traditional political power-holders and religious leaders, and 'so did the public ritual of pledging conferences with billion dollar promises of aid and the virtual invasion of foreign NGOs, all of which raised expectation levels. The political model opened for some democratic participation, but the formal limitations on political parties introduced by outside powers undermined the prospects for an effective parliament. In this scene of widespread discontent and fears, of demands for benefits and frustrated aspirations, the Afghan political coalition that carries forward the modernization project seems rather narrow and fragile.'

¹² Indeed, the same critique may be levelled at this report and our attempt at formulating possible 'ideal type' options for democratisation strategies.

¹³ Carothers, 1999: 305.

also Ahmed, 2003.) Overlapping roles and competition between the two UN secretariat branches, the Department of Peacekeeping Operations (DPKO) and the Department of Political Affairs (DPA) at times also undermines prospects for effective UN engagement. Similarly, the search for optimal modalities for intervention continues. Over the past decade years, the UN has experimented with installing, on the one extreme, UN-run benevolent autocracies (in Kosovo and in East Timor) and the other end 'light footprint' missions in Afghanistan. Neither type seems to provide unequivocally positive examples for future engagement.

Structure and goal of the study

In light of these three underlying challenges, it seems odd that the UN has chosen to expand its peacebuilding agenda ambitiously – instead of seeking to consolidate and solve existing problems with how the UN operates, before moving forward. However, this is not the basic focus of our discussion here. Our point of departure is the encouragement to undertake democratisation within larger efforts at peacebuilding in UN peace operations, as voiced in several reports commissioned by the Secretary-General. This vision was clearly articulated in the Brahimi Report:

[effective peacebuilding requires that] free and fair elections should be viewed as part of broader efforts to strengthen governance institutions. Elections will be successfully held only in an environment in which a population recovering from war comes to accept the ballot over the bullet as an appropriate and credible mechanism through which their views on government are represented. Elections need the support of a broader process of democratisation and civil society building that includes effective civilian governance and culture of respect for basic human rights, lest elections merely ratify a tyranny of the majority or be overturned by force after an operation leaves.¹⁶

In the following, we clarify the concept of democratisation and outline the various kinds of strategic choices that democratisation initiatives entail for the UN in post-conflict situations. We then go on to take stock of UN Security Council mandates, UN system planning, and UN structures associated with democratisation in peace operations – noting the inconsistency between visions from high-level reports that see democratisation as an integral part of peacebuilding, as against the absence of democratisation in mandate texts. This might indicate ambivalence within the UN system as to whether the rhetoric on democratisation is in fact intended to be translated into the guiding principles in UN peace operations.

The report provides insights and lessons learned from attempted democratisation in several peace operations – drawing especially on the cases of East Timor and Afghanistan. We conclude by outlining policy options available to the UN.

¹⁶ Report of the panel on United Nations Peace Operations A/557305-S 2000/809 p.7.

¹⁴ Interview UN official 19 May 2006; see also Call, 2005; Suhrke, 2006.

¹⁵ The term 'Benevolent Autocracy' is used by Chesterman (2004).

Definitions and concepts

Our aim here is to analyse democratisation efforts in the context of UN peace operations. There is some disagreement on definition and use of the term 'peace operation'. ¹⁷ We will use Roland Paris' understanding of the term as a generic phrase that refers to any international peacemaking, peacekeeping, peace-enforcement, peacebuilding or preventive diplomacy operation that includes a multinational military force aimed at restoring or preserving peace (Paris, 2005: 38). It is important to note that we deal solely with peace operations undertaken by the UN, with a special focus on recent, complex peace operations (see below). Moreover, we want at the outset to highlight the difference between activities within a peace operation that are financed from the UN Secretariat's assessed budget and which stems directly from a Security Council mandate, and, on the other hand, activities undertaken by the UN country team during an operation and hence financed from voluntary project contributions or a UN organisation's core funds.

These two different sets of activities by two different types of UN actors have increasingly come to form part of complex peace operations or integrated peace missions. 18 The tasks that the UN has taken upon itself since the end of the Cold War when assisting countries in moving from war to lasting peace have become complex. This has necessitated the involvement of a broader range of UN agencies and more comprehensive planning and co-ordination among UN actors. The concept of 'Integrated Missions' has been designed to facilitate a co-ordinated response by the UN system to the varied and multifaceted tasks arising in conflict situations. However, while there have been some improvements in joint planning at headquarters and field level (see section on planning), the recent Report on Integrated Missions (Eide et al., 2005) provides evidence that, in most cases, integration remains the ideal rather than reality when it comes to co-operation among UN agencies. This, arguably, has implications for how we understand 'peace operations'. Therefore, unless stated otherwise, 'peace operations' will in this report refer primarily to those activities directly mandated by a UN Security Council text and financed directly through the UN assessed budget. The terms 'multidimensional' and 'integrated mission' designate concerted or joint initiatives by the two different types of UN actors referred to above.

Contributions

The report is intended as an original and timely contribution to the literature on peace operations. Various books and journal articles have critically engaged with and provided indepth insight on peacebuilding. (See Zisk Marten, 2004; Paris, 2005; Global Governance Special Issue, 9, 2003; Kumar and Cousens, 2001.) Some also look specifically at democratisation in peace operations.¹⁹ We differ from them by focusing explicitly and solely on

¹⁷ Zisk Marten (2004:5) notes that the Brahimi Report used the terms 'peace enforcement', 'peacebuilding' and 'peace maintenance' operations interchangeably, and mentions that the question of whether to use the term 'peacekeeping operations' or 'peace operations' in the title of both the panel and the report reportedly caused so much controversy in the UN community that it almost undercut the group's work.

¹⁸ Eide et al. (2005: 4) define Integrated Mission as 'an instrument with which the UN seeks to help countries in the transition from war to lasting peace, or to address a similarly complex situation that requires a system-wide UN response, though subsuming actors and approaches within an overall political-strategic crisis management framework.

19 Roland Paris provides impressive comparative and systematic case material on political and economic

UN peace operations, and by providing a discussion that brings up highly relevant policy issues and highlights pressing strategic choices facing the UN.

Methods

This report is based on a review of literature on peace operations and interviews with central representatives at UN headquarters and field offices. The focus is on two countries – Afghanistan and East Timor – although reference will also be made to UN missions in other countries. These two cases were chosen because of the variety they provide – in geographical spread and by representing different types of missions. East Timor is as an example of a heavy UN mission presence, while Afghanistan exemplifies a more non-intrusive mode.

There are several issues *not* dealt with here. Democracy has strong normative connotations; a starting point for much UN activity is that democracy is the best way of organising a society and that democratisation is something the UN *ought* to do. This is an outlook based on Western and liberal assumptions. In this report, we do not question these assumptions, although we do recognise that these ideas are situated within particular sets of values that may not be universally shared. We will also not discuss the legal basis for UN efforts at democratisation, simply noting that these issues have been debated comprehensively elsewhere (see e.g. Farer, 2004).

_

liberalisation from various missions world-wide. The case material of Paris (2005), however, consists of narratives of political events and overall peacebuilding efforts on the part of international actors (see below). An edited volume by Edward Newman and Roland Rich (2004) looks at whether the UN can have substantive positive impact on the development of democratic governance inside countries. Both these volumes form an important backdrop for our study.

2. Theory perspectives: can democratisation succeed?

Scholars disagree as to whether a focus on democratisation activities within peace operations represents the best possible support to post-conflict countries. Several recent assessments have questioned the viability of democratisation initiatives in post-conflict situations. Roland Paris (2005), who surveyed fourteen UN peace operations in the period 1989–1999, holds that, in most of these cases, moves aimed at political or economic liberalisation either failed or created destabilising effects. A key reason for this pattern, Paris argues, is that political and market liberalisation exacerbates social tensions. Elections, for example, foster competition, which adds volatility to post-conflict situations. Jack Snyder similarly stresses that democratic transition often triggers instability, violence or even war (see Snyder 2000; Mansfield and Snyder, 2005).

Charles T. Call and Susan E. Cook likewise point to the poor track record of interventions by the international community and stress the problems associated with implementing the 'democratic reconstruction model' (Call and Cook, 2003). They are particularly concerned at the lack of resources and short time-scales in post-conflict interventions, which makes it difficult for external actors to make a significant impact in relation to institution building. They argue that there is a need for more careful consideration of the range of possible democratic governance models, and that greater attention needs to be paid to specific and local contexts so as to create more locally entrenched and legitimate postwar political systems.

More pessimistic is the outlook of Kimberly Zisk Marten (2004: 19), who holds that attempts at controlling and affecting a country's political society by outside intervention are usually both inefficient and unworkable. The states initiating and participating in peace operations seldom have the levels of long-term commitment needed to make an intervention succeed. In her view, intervention should be restricted to 'security keeping'.

However, most other scholars are reluctant to dismiss democratisation by foreign actors in post-conflict countries. Roland Paris (2005) argues that the international community should maintain the goal of democracy but engage in the long-term task of building viable state institutions before undertaking democratisation. According to Paris, there is a need for 'institutionalisation before liberalisation', in order to 'avoid pathologies'. Call and Cook express ambivalence as to whether failures of the past might be due to the inappropriateness of Western models of liberal democracy to post-conflict societies, or simply to insufficient resources and poor choices. Call and Cook's conclusion stresses the latter and resembles that of Paris: democratisation might work, but there is a need for greater sophistication, time and resource commitment in international intervention (Call and Cook, 2003).

Others have challenged some of these standpoints. In a review article of Paris' book, Salman Ahmed (2005) argues that delaying elections for several years after an interna-

²⁰ The term 'democratic reconstruction model' was used by Marina Ottaway (2002).

tional peace operation arrives is simply not realistic.²¹ Local populations, Ahmed says, expect peace operations to 'quickly help them redress the legacy of illegitimate or tyrannical rule'. Rather than delaying elections, peace operations should rapidly seek to foster an environment favourable to holding them. Some development practitioners similarly stress that the months and years immediately after a peace agreement represent an important window of opportunity. The momentum generated from a peace agreement and the initiation of an international intervention can strengthen democratisation efforts.²² Moreover, Call and Cook concede that, even if democratisation goals may be unrealistic, they might have some unintended and positive effects. In Cambodia the UN peace operation did not succeed in creating a viable democracy, but human rights groups, media and independent political parties nevertheless emerged - due largely to the political space created by the UN's stress on universal democratic standards.

The above discussion indicates the profound disagreements over whether and under what conditions democratisation efforts in peace operations benefit war-torn societies. The differing positions adopted by these scholars translate into distinct policy options. At the one end of the spectrum, Zisk Marten advocates a minimal approach where few efforts in peace operations should be directed towards democratisation. Zisk Marten recognises the need for the creation of a new government, either through an election or through a consultative process. Beyond this, however, she urges that peace operations should focus on preventing anarchy rather than fostering deep-seated political change. At the other end we find Roland Paris, and Call and Cook. These analysts stress the hitherto gloomy picture of democratisation efforts, but, rather than conceding that democratisation will not work, they argue for more or better democratisation. Paris, for example, wants a more comprehensive, or maximum, UN engagement that can pave the way for democratisation by building institutions that will later serve as pillars enabling a democratic transition.

²¹ George Downs and Stephen Stedman (2002) share some this optimism and have also opposed Paris' line of thought – albeit on different grounds: They argue that if more modest criteria of success are applied to peace operations – such as the prevalence of peace when the international peace operation departs – the track record of the UN appears more positive. ²² Interview UN official 12 May 2006.

Table 1: Academic perspectives on prospects for successful democratisation and peacebuilding

	Scholar	Assessment	Recommended response
Minimum	Kimberly	Broad-based transformation of politics	Limit the goals of interventions
	Zisk Mar-	and culture of foreign societies through	and focus on preventing anarchy.
	ten	foreign intervention does not work – co-	Support the formation of new gov-
		ordinated liberal democratic state action	ernment, either through consulta-
		have insufficient coherence and com-	tive process or through elections.
		mitment	
	Roland	Political liberalisation through elections	Broad-based efforts by interna-
	Paris	generates competition which undermines	tional community to build institu-
Maximum		fragile post-war situations	tions before undertaking political
			liberalisation
	Charles	Democratisation efforts have failed be-	Interventions need longer time-
	Call and	cause of insufficient insight into the po-	scales and more sophisticated ways
Susan Cook liti		litical dynamics of host societies	of interacting with and understand-
			ing political processes

3. Strategic choices: Maximum or minimum democratisation

What actually is meant by 'more' or 'broader' democratisation? In the following, we disentangle 'democratisation' as a concept and highlight distinct sub-components. These components can usefully be situated along a spectrum of 'maximum' or 'minimum' strategies.

Table 2: Democratisation sub-components

	Democratisation	Minimum democratisation	Maximum democratisation
	components		
1	Duration	Short time-span for de- mocratisation efforts	Long time-span for democratisation efforts
2	Timing	Key democratisation activities initiated early in the mission period	Key democratisation activities initiated late in the mission period
3	Scope	Efforts to enhance popular political participation at national level by conducting/assisting with national elections.	Efforts to enhance popular political participation at local, regional and national levels.
4	Local knowledge	Few efforts at obtaining in-depth knowledge of social and political organisation and process – formal and informal	Major efforts at obtaining in-depth knowledge of social and political organisation and processes – formal and informal
5	Design of elec- toral and political system	Little assistance and limited time allocated for the development of optimal electoral and political systems	Major assistance and extensive time allocated for the development of optimal electoral and political systems
6	Events versus process	Assistance focused on elections, and election seen as a one-time <i>event</i> and key output.	Assistance focused on elections alongside serious efforts to strengthen media, ensure representation and participation for vulnerable groups, and enhance democratic functioning of government institutions. Elections form part of an overall and long-term <i>process</i> to stimulate democratic awareness in the population, trigger political mobilisation (including party formation) and build a culture of peaceful political solutions to conflicts and grievances
7	Financial resources	Low relative or absolute levels of spending on democratisation initiatives	High relative or absolute levels of spending on de- mocratisation initiatives

The decision to implement a democratisation strategy during the course of a UN operation implies making strategic choices. Planners from the host country and/or a UN peace operation will need to decide whether democratisation should start *early* or *late* in the course of the operation. Second, should it be a democratisation where the various components and related project activities are executed over a *short period* of time, rather than sequencing the implementation of elements over a *longer period*? Third, is there to be democratisation at local and regional levels in addition to central levels?

A fourth and related aspect is the degree to which a UN mission seeks to assess, understand and engage with *indigenous political processes and actors*. Béatrice Pouligny (2000) argues that multidimensional UN peacekeeping missions interact, sometimes unknowingly, with important formal and informal aspects of the social and political organisation of a host society. UN missions tend to recognise and explicitly engage only with Western-style NGOs, even though many groups that assume political functions and roles in war and post-war periods are not structured along Western 'civil society' concepts. There is thus a danger, she stresses, that UN missions are unaware of the political functions played by these actors. Yet, faced with an international intervention, informal groups develop distinct strategies towards missions which shape the social and political contexts encountered by a UN peace operation. UN missions have differing levels of commitment to acquiring dense knowledge on both formal and informal political processes. The level of commitment to this type of knowledge in turn shapes the extent to which it may inform the design of democratisation strategies in peace operations.²³

The fifth sub-element of a democratisation strategy is the degree to which a mission chooses to engage with and provide insights on a variety of *electoral models* and constitutional options in order to enable the host countries to adopt the most optimal democratic model. Arend Lijphart and Jamal Benomar (2004) argue that deep societal cleavages pose a grave problem for democracy and that it is more difficult to establish and maintain democratic government in divided societies. However, they also hold that careful constitutional engineering can help to remedy political grievances and create incentives for moderate and unifying political actors.²⁴ That means there is a choice available to international actors implementing democratisation initiatives: what degrees of assistance and advice should be levied on the design stages of democratic systems? This also relates to a further aspect: will the peace operation oversee the creation of a permanent democratic model, or should interim solutions be adopted?

The sixth and perhaps most central sub-element is the *number of components* to be included in a democratisation strategy. Peace operations may have a narrow *event* focus, concentrating on building capacity for election administration, help with the conduct of elections and carrying out voter education. Alternatively, democratisation strategies can expand beyond election events and initiate a broader *process* which enhances popular participation in and awareness of governing institutions. This may include working to empower, for example, minority groups or women. Measures to achieve this could include enabling the media to assume watchdog functions and entrenching transparency measures in governing practices, as well as awareness-raising and comprehensive civic education programmes. In countries with limited parliamentary and democratic experience, civic education may be a vital part of the preparation to motivate potential voters. Assistance in this sphere may include national curriculum for a continued civic education programme, and training of national election observers.

Finally there is the matter of the *financial resources* available. Will the peace operation

_

²³ Several authors have presented arguments along these lines. See Kumar and Cousens, 2001; Hohe, 2002b.

²⁴ Nigeria is one example, see Lijphart and Benomar 2004.

be allocated much or little resources, in absolute terms, for democratisation? Will the mission allocate relatively low or relatively high levels of funding to democratisation initiatives as opposed to other activities? A related issue with regard to multidimensional missions is who controls the funds, and what kind of funds are used. Are democratisation activities largely funded through the annual assessed budget and administered by the DPKO, or are they financed through voluntary contributions and/or administered primarily by other actors like the UNDP, in a multidimensional mission?

Later we assess how maximum and minimum democratisation efforts have played out in several UN peace operations. First, we turn to a brief assessment of UN Security Council mandates, UN planning and UN administrative structures associated with the UN's efforts to entrench democratisation in post-conflict countries.

4. UN Security Council Mandates

Resolutions of the UN Security Council rarely refer explicitly to 'democracy'. On the other hand, there is frequent mention of election-related tasks – and mandates often indirectly carve out the political space for the UN to do democratisation in its peace operations. Nevertheless, the inconsistency between the overall visions found in high-level UN reports that describe democratisation as an integral part of peacebuilding, and the absence of democratisation in actual mandate texts may indicate that there is ambiguity within the system as to whether the rhetoric on democratisation is meant to be translated into the guiding principles in UN peace operations.

A survey of mandates from 1991 onwards reveals growing complexity in the civilian tasks with which UN missions have been mandated in UNSC resolutions.²⁵ Similarly, in a survey of the resolution texts of four countries (East Timor, Afghanistan, Sierra Leone and Liberia) we found evolution in the complexities of tasks and several democracy-related points. We noted how the resolutions often stress the importance of elections, but that there has been less mention of the term 'democracy'.

UNSC resolution 1378 on Afghanistan provides a good illustration. Here the Council 'expresses its strong support for the efforts of the Afghan people to establish a new and transitional administration leading to the formation of a government, both of which 'should be broad-based, multi-ethnic and fully representative of all the Afghan people..... [and] should respect the human rights of all Afghan people, regardless of gender, ethnicity or religion'. Interestingly, the Security Council calls for the formation of what is in effect a democratic government, yet does not express this call in terms like 'democracy'.

UN Security Council peace operation mandates are often worded in a similar way. Above we noted the growing complexity of mandates. The change was twofold: an expansion in both the subject area UN peace operation personnel engage, and the type of UN activities. While in the early 1990s UN missions were mandated to verify or monitor elections, one decade later such missions were increasingly requested to conduct elections or build capacity and pro-actively support national election authorities.

Comparison between the mandates for the missions to Liberia in 1993 and 2003 illustrates this change. In the first mandate (S/RES/866), the UN mission was charged primarily with overseeing the ceasefire, assisting with demobilisation and demining, and observ-

Western Sahara SCR690, 1991; El Salvador SCRs 693& 832 1991/93; Croatia SCR743 1992; Cambodia SCR745 1992; Angola SCR747 1992; Mozambique SCR797 1992; Somalia SCR814 1993; Liberia SCR 866 SCR10201993/1995; Haiti SCR867 1993; Rwanda SCR997 1995; Bosnia-Herzegovina SCR1035 1995; Croatia-Eastern Slavonia SCR1037 1996; Angola SCR1118 1997; Central African Republic SCR1159 SCR1230 1998/1999; Sierra Leone SCR1181 1998; Kosovo SCR1244 1999; East Timor SCR1272 SCR1410 1999/2002; Congo (DRC) SCR1291 2000; Afghanistan SCR1378 2001; Afghanistan SCR1378 2001; Liberia SCR1509 2003; and Sudan SCR1590 2005.

²⁵ Security Council resolutions surveyed for this report included:

ing and verifying elections. By contrast, the 2003 UNSC resolution on Liberia (S/RES/1509) made civil provisions that included 're-establishing national authority' and 'functioning administrative structures at both national and local levels'. This resolution mandated the mission 'to assist the transitional government.... in developing a strategy to consolidate governmental institutions, including a national legal framework and judicial and correctional institutions', and also urged the Liberian transitional government to ensure protection of human rights and rule of law.

Elections have a central place in both resolutions. In the 1993 resolution, the UN mission was charged with 'observing' and 'verifying' the election process, whereas in 2003 UNMIL was given a larger task: to 'assist in preparing for elections'. One striking feature remains: absence of democracy terminology. For instance, the six-page Liberia resolution of 2003 uses the term 'democratic policing' once, but otherwise does not at any point employ the terms 'democracy' or 'democratisation'. In the four-page Liberia resolution of 1993 these terms do not appear at all. While the Liberia resolutions seem to represent the main trend, some other mandate texts differ. UNSC resolution on Haiti from 1994 (940), for example, states that 'the goal of the international community remains the restoration of democracy and the prompt return of the legitimately elected President (S/RES/940 1994, quoted in Rich, 2004: 14). In Sierra Leone, the UNSC called for 'restoration of the democratically elected Government and a return to constitutional order' (S/RES/1132 1997, quoted in Rich, loc.cit.). Still, UNSC mandate texts seem characterised first and foremost by the omission of reference to 'democracy', even though such mandates normally include election-related terminology and tasks.

These trends stand in contrast to the commitment voiced in UN reports on peacebuilding and the proposed central place of democratisation in such efforts. UN Secretariat representatives note that 'democracy' is a controversial term for many countries, including Security Council members. ²⁶ This has resulted in a lack of explicit reference to democracy. This in turn means that mandates reflect the ideological differences among member states – they are, in the words of Roland Rich (2004:13), exercises in political expediency and bargaining rather than in the implementation of universal principles or overall UN aims.

²⁶ Interview UN representative May 2006.

Liberia: UN Security Council mandates 1993 and 2003

S/RES/866 (1993) paragraph 3:

UNOMIL shall comprise military observers as well as medical, engineering, communications, transportation and electoral components, in the numbers indicated in the Secretary-General's report, together with minimal staff necessary to support it, and shall have the following mandate: (a) To receive and investigate all reports on alleged incidents of violations of the cease-fire agreement and, if the violation cannot be corrected, to report its findings to the Violations Committee established pursuant to the Peace Agreement and to the Secretary-General; (b) To monitor compliance with other elements of the Peace Agreement, including at points on Liberia's borders with Sierra Leone and other neighbouring countries, and to verify its impartial application, and in particular to assist in the monitoring of compliance with the embargo on delivery of arms and military equipment to Liberia and the cantonment, disarmament and demobilization of combatants; (c) To observe and verify the election process, including the legislative and presidential elections to be held in accordance with the provisions of the Peace Agreement; (d) To assist, as appropriate, in the coordination of humanitarian assistance activities in the field in conjunction with the existing United Nations humanitarian relief operation; (e) To develop a plan and assess financial requirements for the demobilization of combatants; (f) To report on any major violations of international humanitarian law to the Secretary-General; (g) To train ECOMOG engineers in mine clearance and, in cooperation with ECOMOG, coordinate the identification of mines and assist in the clearance of mines and unexploded bombs; (h) Without participation in enforcement operations, to coordinate with ECOMOG in the discharge of ECOMOG's separate responsibilities both formally, through the Violations Committee, and informally.

(S/RES/1509 (2003) Selected points from the mandate text:

(l) to contribute towards international efforts to protect and promote human rights in Liberia, with particular attention to vulnerable groups including refugees, returning refugees and internally displaced persons, women, children, and demobilized child soldiers (...); p) to assist the transitional Government, in conjunction with ECOWAS and other international partners, in reestablishment of national authority throughout the country, including the establishment of a functioning administrative structure at both the national and local levels (...); (s) to assist the transitional government, in conjunction with ECOWAS and other international partners, in preparing for national elections scheduled for no later than the end of 2005; (q) to assist the transitional government in conjunction with ECOWAS and other international partners in developing a strategy to consolidate governmental institutions, including a national legal framework and judicial and correctional institutions.

Resolution 1509 also stressed '(16) the need for an effective public information capacity, including the establishment as necessary of United Nations radio stations to promote understanding of the peace process and the role of UNMIL among local communities and the parties'. Moreover, it highlighted 'the need for accountability for violations of international humanitarian law and urging the transitional government once established to ensure that the protection of human rights and the establishment of a state based on the rule of law and of an independent judiciary are among its highest priorities.'

(all emphases added)

Has the absence of references to democracy made the implementation of UN missions less optimal? The Brahimi Report stressed the 'pivotal importance of clear, credible and adequately resourced Security Council mandates', and further argued that 'most [UN failures] occurred because the Security Council and the member states crafted and supported ambiguous, inconsistent and under-funded mandates' (as quoted in Rich, 2004: 16). In the case of democratisation, the problem is not so much the ambiguity in mandated tasks, but the inconsistency between the overall visions put forward in the UN high-level reports that refer to democratisation as an integral part of peacebuilding, and the absence of democratisation in mandate texts.

This, however, does not necessarily hamper the execution of a specific mandate. There is usually room for democratisation strategies within the limits of a mandate. Take 2003 Liberia resolution, for example: In addition to a specific election reference, there are several points mandating the mission to help in re-constructing functional government structures; and to ensure that principles of human rights are adhered to, that vulnerable and minority groups are included and protected, and that public information and support are provided to the media. Such formulations may offer important leeway for the UN mission to initiate democratisation efforts that entail elections as well as ensuring that democratic principles and practices are enshrined in government institutions.

5. UN and democratisation: structures and strategies

In the introduction we noted that the UN has declared its clear commitment to include comprehensive democratisation as part of peacebuilding efforts in the aftermath of war. This section examines what strategies, guidelines and organisational structures are associated with democratisation initiatives within UN peace operations.

UN Structures

Several actors within the UN, including DPKO and the Department of Political Affairs (DPA) are charged with tasks related to democratisation efforts. The DPKO's Office of Operations is responsible for designing the overall concept for any given mission. It also forms an important part of the Integrated Mission Task Force (IMTF) at headquarters level, where all relevant UN departments, funds and programs participate and where concrete structures, responsibilities and activities of an operation are agreed on (in accordance with the Security Council mandate).

At mission level, two groups of the DPKO mission staff are charged with tasks related to democratisation. One group, the political affairs section, is primarily entrusted with 'understanding the dynamics of the armed conflict...[, to] follow closely the evolution of these dynamics and to develop strategies to help these parties in conflict resolve disputes through peaceful means' (UN, 2003: 23). In other words, the political affairs officers are charged primarily with conflict management tasks. They are, however, often also entrusted with other tasks, such as conceptualising, planning and establishing new political institutions under a transitional mandate. The other group in the DPKO mission staff working with tasks related to democratisation initiatives is the civil affairs section. The role of this section is to 'engage and assist local authorities and communities in efforts to consolidate peace by restoring the political, legal, economic and social infrastructures that support democratic governance and economic development' (ibid.: 35). A defining feature of the tasks and modes of operation for both political and civil affairs officers in a peace mission is the tendency to engage in mediation, observation and consultation with and between local actors (ibid.). Political and civil affairs officers are seldom expected to carry out tasks related to capacity building or technical assistance for the reconstruction of government institutions. Civil affairs personnel have also suffered from unclear job descriptions and the absence of an institutional 'home' for collecting best practices.²⁷

By contrast, the Department of Political Affairs is charged with rendering specific and pro-active assistance in the sphere of elections in a mission. The DPA determines electoral standards, assesses the needs and scope of an electoral operation, formulates and staffs the mission and monitors the implementation of UN electoral operations. (UN, 2003: 148.) The Electoral Assistance Division (EAD) within the Department of Political Affairs (DPA) was established in April 1992 as the division with principal responsibility for these tasks. Depending on the Security Council mandate, the EAD may take on the roles normally fulfilled by national election authorities, including the 'establishment of a

²⁷ Interview UN official 19 May 2006.

system of laws, procedures and administrative measures necessary for holding free and fair elections, as well as the actual administration of the electoral process'. At the other extreme, the EAD may assume the more limited role of verifying the electoral process. In this case it deploys international election observers responsible for observing all aspects of an electoral process. The level of EAD engagement is generally situated somewhere in-between these two types of assistance. The national election authorities will typically still be in charge of the process, whereas the EAD provides staff offering major assistance with regard to capacity building and election observation.

There appear to be some gaps in the structures and functions of DPKO and DPA when compared with the ambitious and transformative democratisation agenda that the UN has designed for itself. While the civilian and political components of DPKO are given tasks related to broader issues of democratisation, they are seldom provided with funds or tasks beyond the roles of consultation and mediation. The EAD, by contrast, can be more proactive, but its focus is often restricted to ensuring that the elections as such are carried out.

Difficulties have also arisen due to overlapping roles and functions. Co-operation and co-ordination between the DPKO and the DPA has, for example, had a history of confusion and tensions over which section should act as lead agency in peace operations. Many of these tensions have been resolved by the subsequent guidelines issued by the Secretary-General.²⁹ Nevertheless, as Charles Call found in his 2005 study of UN structures, 'dissatisfaction remained [after the issuing of the new guidelines]....especially with the DPA'.³⁰

UN secretariat units like the DPKO and the DPA also work closely with the UN country team at the field level within the framework of Integrated Missions. UN country team members, such as the UNDP, may assume important democracy-promotion roles. As mentioned, this report focuses on the democratisation initiatives undertaken by UN secretariat structures. However, as integration is increasingly becoming 'the guiding principle for the design and implementation of complex UN operations in post-conflict situations and for linking the various dimensions of peacebuilding (political, developmental, humanitarian, human rights, rule of law, social and security aspects) into a coherent strategy'³¹, the linkages and degree of joint efforts between and by UN peace operations and UN country team have increased. We return to the discussion of the role played by the UN country team in the conclusion to this report.

Strategies

Above we noted the clear UN commitment to include comprehensive democratisation in peacebuilding efforts in the aftermath of war. Arguably, however, the UN machinery has not followed through with developing guidelines and operational strategies for ensuring that 'elections [are supported by] a broader process of democratisation and civil society building that includes effective civilian governance and culture of respect for basic hu-

²⁸ www.un.org Department of Political Affairs.

²⁹ A/57/387; see also Call, 2005: 25–26.

³⁰ Call. loc.cit.

³¹ UN Secretary-General 'Note of Guidance on Integrated Missions' 9 February 2006.

man rights'. ³² Several high-level DPKO representatives interviewed for this report confirmed that no guidelines, strategies or standard procedures have been developed with regard to democratisation. ³³ The *Handbook on UN Multidimensional Peacekeeping Operations* (UN, 2003) illustrates this state of affairs: it gives a detailed outline of the standard UN procedures for election assistance in one central chapter, but issues beyond the execution of elections are hardly mentioned. The concluding chapter stresses the importance of peacebuilding and that 'democratic government....is increasingly identified as serving the basis for both lasting peace and sustainable development', but offers no concrete guidance or standard measures to be taken in this sphere.

In the absence of generic procedures or strategies for comprehensive democratisation in UN missions, two other processes generate timetables and plans for activities, which, taken together, constitute a form of default strategy on democratisation in individual missions. The first of these is the peace agreement between the parties to a conflict. The second is the mission concept, which the DPKO Office of Operations develops in accordance with the UNSC mandate and the other participants of the Integrated Mission Task Force.

A peace agreement usually makes concrete provisions for elections, as well as broader issues pertaining to the establishment and functioning of political institutions. The stipulations in the peace agreement may thus serve as a road map, binding and focusing the UN peace operation to work towards fulfilling the aims embodied within it. In the case of Liberia for example, UN mission representatives note that the provisions of the peace agreement was central with regard to which initiatives UNMIL took in the sphere of democratisation. Similarly, in Sudan the Comprehensive Peace Agreement and Machakos Protocols specify principles and timelines which, if adhered to, will function as a guiding document for the UN involvement in the political sphere. In the case of Afghanistan, the 2001 Bonn Agreement, while not a peace agreement as such, has become a central road map. UN statements, including UNSC resolutions, have explicitly endorsed the Bonn Agreement and used it as a starting point when designing their own interventions. The case of East Timor represents an exception, since here it was a prior agreement between the UN and Indonesia that formed the basis for the UN engagement.

The increasing prominence and comprehensiveness of peace agreements is in many ways a highly positive development, since, by letting peace agreements assume a strategic function, local ownership is enhanced. On the other hand, by failing to elaborate generic guiding principles, UN operations risk becoming reactive and incapable of quickly developing plans at the field level to ensure that, during a mission and working within the bounds of the peace agreement, broader issues of democratisation are entrenched in the best possible manner. Peace agreements could usefully be complemented by rigorous strategic thinking in the UN on how best to capitalise on the provisions of an agreement.

The process of designing the mission concept generates planning and strategies, but is

35

_

³² Report of the panel on United Nations Peace Operations A/557305-S 2000/809.

³³ Interview UN representative 3 May 2006, Interview UN representative 19 May 2006.

severely strained by the scant time available. With the initiation of the UN mission to Afghanistan, serious efforts were made by UN agencies to integrate their planning in the Integrated Mission Task Force. While the task force seems to have worked well in the initial phases, time constraints quickly pressured the UN agencies to initiate action unilaterally, which in turn eventually undermined the relevance of the IMTF. The case of East Timor similarly shows the problems of time constraints. According to Astri Suhrke (2006), even if UNTAET had the dual function of peacekeeping and civil administration, the mission was nevertheless developed along standard procedures for peacekeeping, including limited time for planning and little local consultation. While deployment and planning for peacekeeping were manageable within the time-span allocated, the complex task of planning for a civilian administration proved more daunting.

The case of East Timor highlights the fundamental difference between deploying UN staff in order to keep the peace, and working towards conflict mitigation versus deployment for larger tasks such as civil administration. Moreover, there seems to be a parallel between undertaking civil administration tasks and democratisation: in order to succeed, both need detailed knowledge of local political processes, and both types of initiatives will entail extensive engagement with the local population. The planning for such tasks is fundamentally different from peacekeeping, and requires more time for planning and engagement with local partners than do the more technical peacekeeping activities.

Time constraints coupled with the absence of procedures for strategising on issues beyond election initiatives can prevent the UN from ensuring interlinkages among the various components of a peace operation that may work towards comprehensive democratisation. ³⁵ Moreover, there are indications from the limited material we have gathered that little significant co-ordination takes place at headquarters level prior to the launching of a mission. (See Eide et al., 2005; also Ahmed, 2003.) There are also signs that few missions manage to translate mandates and in-depth knowledge of local conditions into viable and explicit democratisation strategies.

To conclude, it seems that the UN has not yet been able to follow up its words with action: there is little machinery available in the world organisation that can translate the democratisation commitment into workable, comprehensive and integrated plans and strategies that may form part of overall UN peacebuilding initiatives.

_

³⁵ The case of East Timor provides another interesting example. The World Bank initiated a project intended to enhance local governance and local political participation by establishing community-level development committees. This had the potential to enhance political participation and as such lent support to democratisation initiatives. UN staff that served in East Timor stress, however, that important synergy effects were lost due to lack of co-ordination and information sharing in relation to this project. Interview UN representative 12 May 2006; see also Hohe, 2002b.

6. Democratisation: lessons from Afghanistan and East Timor

Turning from the mandates, structures and strategies associated with democratisation efforts in UN peace operations, in this section we assess how some of the sub- components of democratisation efforts have featured in specific UN peace operations. We present a brief examination of the democratisation processes of the peace operations in Afghanistan and in East Timor, focusing on their main achievements, challenges, obstacles and lessons learned in relation to democratisation efforts and minimum and maximum approaches. Both these peace operations were established to assist a transitional government, but were distinct and are therefore interesting to compare.

East Timor

United Nations Assistance Mission to East Timor (UNTAET) was given 'overall responsibility for the administration and exercise of all legislative and executive authority [and were to] provide security, establish a new public administration with focus on institutional development and capacity-building to self-government, initiate the provision of social and civil services, co-ordinate humanitarian assistance and ensuring peace and stability.³⁶ The UN had thus the ultimate authority from central to district level, which had not been experienced anywhere earlier.³⁷ The UN faced an overwhelming task: 'We have to build everything from scratch... and it is impossible to establish a new administration, democratic institutions, restore public services and revive an economy in just over two years', said Special Representative of the Secretary-General (SRSG)Sergio Vieira de Mello just over two months after mission start.³⁸

The planning of UNTAET was rapid and lacked formal consultation with the East Timorese. This undefined local involvement derived from the ambiguous formulation in resolution 1272 stating that UNTAET should consult and work closely together with the East Timorese, whereas all political power and control were in fact concentrated in UNTAET. There was no clear definition of what was meant by to 'consult', and this gave UNTAET considerable leeway and autonomy (Chesterman, 2005: 135–36.) The CNRT

³⁶ S/Res/1272, 25 Oct. 1999.

³⁷ Kosovo and East Timor are used as comparable missions, but the UN's role in East Timor differed significantly from Kosovo in several ways. (See Griffin and Jones, 2000.) One of the most significant differences was that Kosovo was a province of Serbia, whereas East Timor was under the complete authority of the UN. It should be stressed also that UNTAET was a highly complex and ambitious operation. In terms of staff and size it was enormous, comprising administrative, personnel for humanitarian assistance and relief, and a military component (9,646 uniformed personnel, 1,051 civilian international and 1,928 local staff for one year compared to about 200 civilian and 4,000 international assistance peacekeepers in Afghanistan) and funding provided by the General Assembly, demonstrating the international community's will to make a UN peace operation succeed. Indonesia had administered the territory from its invasion in 1975 until 1999. All senior officials left when the Indonesian militia launched operation 'Clean Sweep', when the outcome of the referendum became public and the East Timorese voting in favour of independence (Chopra, 2002). Skills were lacking in the areas of senior management, technical and professional areas of government, public finances, judiciary, police, defence, social sector, commerce and agriculture (World Bank, 1999).

 $^{38\,}$ Quote from UNTAET and World Bank Press Release, 'East Timor moves from emergency reconstruction to development mode', $15\,$ June 2001, in Subianto, n.d.

was the main interlocutor for the UN, which might have eased the UN's consultation process with the East Timorese: however, it did not turn out that way. The UN was concerned about impartiality – a legacy from the first generation of peacekeeping missions – and this principle hindered an active engagement with the different political actors. The lack of consultations caused frustration among the East Timorese. Consequently, the CNRT was reorganised, quickly becoming the de facto government at local level by reinforcing its relations with the grassroots. The CNRT might have served as the vehicle enabling UNTAET to reach out to the greater part of the population, but this opportunity was lost through centralised and exclusive planning.

Immediate priorities were the severe destruction and pressing humanitarian needs. State-building came second as the UN had both an executive and legislative mandate. There a significant vacuum as to rule of law, as well as the lack of primary regulations, dispute-resolution mechanisms and civilian law and order. (World Bank, 1999:15.) Broad-based representation, consultation and democratisation were not articulated concerns, unlike the Afghan case in the Bonn process. The focus was primarily on administrative, social and economic governance, and less on the need to build a national political leadership.

UNTAET perceived East Timor in general as a *terra nullis* because of the skills and capacity deficiency in the public sector. However, informal political institutions and leadership had emerged out of the clandestine structures and customary governance practices, and East Timor was not a political destitute. Its traditional forms of political authority were not recognised by the international administration, probably because new political systems were not compatible with these traditional concepts of legitimacy. (See Hohe, 2002a.)

The SRSG came to realise the need for a formal consultation mechanism and engagement of the East Timorese, and, in response, the National Consultative Council was established six months into the mission. There were no powers attached to the Council. The East Timorese protested, requesting a more substantive and formal role. A two-track approach was then proposed, and the NCC was transformed into a National Council that served as an interim legislature. The East Timorese were invited to co-govern through the East Timorese Transitional Administration – the ETTA.

Afghanistan

In the case of Afghanistan, the importance of ownership and self-government was addressed with the creation of the Interim Administration in December 2001. At Bonn, a purely Afghan Interim Administration was established on the basis of the participation of some 25 Afghans, representing mainly the Northern Alliance, the diaspora, NGOs and civil society. According to the Bonn Agreement, the people of Afghanistan had the right to 'freely determine their own political future in accordance with the principles of Islam, democracy, pluralism and social justice', with political liberty and a right to vote. Local ownership was therefore emphasised even before the UN peace operation was launched. Bonn was, however, not a peace consultation but a political selective agreement among the victors that had defeated the Taliban. The role of the UN Assistance Mission to Afghanistan (UNAMA), established in March 2002, was to support the transitional admini-

stration, facilitate political dialogue, monitor human rights, and co-ordinate recovery and reconstruction assistance.

In contrast to East Timor's heavy UN presence, the planning of UNAMA sought to operationalise the new concept of 'integrated mission'. However, lack of clear strategies made planning a complicated and time-consuming exercise in co-ordination, and, in the end, the different agencies established their operations in conventional fashion. The UNAMA SRSG launched a 'light footprint' approach, which was sensitive to the complexity of Afghan politics, the principle of Afghans' right to self-determination and the possible unintended effects of foreign presence in terms of local perceptions of invasion and disempowerment. The UN was mindful of the fact that it would be not be desirable – in fact it would be impossible of a simple two-pillar structure: Pillar 1 for political affairs, and Pillar 2 for co-ordination of recovery, relief and reconstruction with a light presence outside Kabul. Elections were a main preoccupation of the UN: Elections for establishment of a transitional administration through a Loya Jirga (Grand Assembly), elections for a Constitutional Loya Jirga, Presidential election, and two national assembly elections – five elections in four years.

Elections

The timing of elections is always contentious, and the first set of elections will most likely always be less than perfect.

Nevertheless, countries which experienced relative stability after the arrival of sizable peacekeeping troops, as in the case in Sierra Leone, Liberia and East Timor, the momentum seems to have provided a conducive environment for the introduction of a new regime, widespread reforms and developments in relatively short time.

_

³⁹ The Emergency Loya Jirga (Grand Assembly) took place already after six months; Constitutional Loya Jirga, presidential, and elections for the Upper (Meshrano Jirga) and Lower (Wolesi Jirga) Houses of the Afghan Parliament. Upper House elections were indirect from the Provincial Councils. Provincial Council elections were held on the same day as the Lower House elections. District elections were also scheduled according to the Constitution, though were not held.

⁴⁰ Initially UNAMA applied a ceiling of 230 UN international staff, 50% of these being support staff. The number grew as the light approach became too light, and at its peak UNAMA came to account for about one-third of the total UN international presence by late 2002. (Conflict, Security and Development Group, 2003.)

Arguments in favour of early elections*

- ☐ An election can be an important conflict resolution tool. Early elections may prevent warring factions from a return to fighting by promising a new and fairer way of sharing power.
- ☐ Elections can be of symbolic importance to nation- and state-building.
- Early elections in post-conflict societies may kick-start democratic political governance.
- Relatively early elections may be a necessity to meet the need for a legitimate successor regime
- A relatively rapid political liberalisation process may be compounded by the risk of donor fatigue.
- * Based on interviews with election specialists and UN staff

In East Timor, a formal step towards democratic government was initiated with the agreement on a date for the election of a constituent assembly, which took place 22 months after UNTAET came into operation. The national leadership exercised considerable pressure to hold elections and terminate the UN's decisive authority. In this case, then, central elections were fundamental to the nation- and state-building process, as well as being significant as a symbolic expression of independence. The latter was achieved with the presidential elections of May 2002.

'Postponing the elections beyond 2001 is impossible – 'you can't hold back the horses for political change.'

– UN Transitional Administrator in East Timor, Sergio de Mello

In the case of Afghanistan, the Bonn Agreement became the *de facto* strategy for the peace operation in the country. This was further specified at the biannual donor conferences, starting with the pledging conference in Tokyo 2002. The Bonn Agreement and the ensuing donor consultations endorsed a rapid political timetable to create the first democratically elected government in Afghanistan through a relatively compressed political timetable. Democratisation accelerated throughout the country, yet also blended traditional systems with modern ones in the form of *Loya Jirga* in the first two elections. The Grand Assemblies were held to select a Transitional Administration and to start the process of adopting a new constitution. However, they were also used as a way to mediate between factions and conflicting interests concerning the broader process of nation- and state-building.

Electoral systems – more than just a technical issue

The choice of electoral system may influence the nature of politics in societies divided along ethnic, political, religious or other lines, since it influences the formation of political parties. Therefore, the decision regarding the electoral system should be based on a careful assessment and aimed at strengthening fragile political structures. The conventional school of thought argues that proportional representation (PR) is the most constructive way to unite fragile and divide societies and promote a multi-party system. An alter-

native, however, is to try to avoid the formation of parties along divided lines and instead encourage inter-ethnic bargaining and 'swap of preferences', often labelled 'centripetalism'. According to Benjamin Reilly (2002), a blend of PR and the latter approach is preferable. Other systems – like the Single Non-Transferable Vote system used in Afghanistan – promote a 'winner take all'-solution, tend to create a zero-sum game and may result in a disproportional representation in parliament.

Proportional representation requires identifiable parties. Existing political parties may carry a legacy of past intra-state fighting, as is the case in Afghanistan. Because of this there has been widespread public resentment of political parties. This resentment needs to be addressed through civic education and the training of young political leaders. Afghanistan has currently more than 70 parties and requires political reform including greater convergence and coalition building. When a party emerges around a resistance movement, like Freitlin in East Timor or the Mujahedin in Afghanistan, it may fuel nationalism (Chesterman et al., 2004: 5–6).

Prior to the election for a constituent assembly in East Timor, 14 out of 16 existing political parties signed a 'Pact of National Unity' and committed themselves to ensuring a peaceful election and to accept the results. Rudimentary support was provided to the political parties by UNDP, but due to the shortage of time, the mature attitude of the parties and the impact of voter education were relatively limited.

In East Timor parties were allowed; in Afghanistan, political parties were excluded from the presidential and national assembly elections, mainly at the request of the executive. Where civil society is weak, political parties can serve as the link between the central government and the citizenry. Political parties are thus essential elements in the formation of a democratic polity. (See Reilly, 2002.) The absence of political parties can a make a parliament more prone to formations based on ethnicity or ad-hoc alliances instead of on substantive policy issues and broader democratic norms. Building or fostering a political culture, political maturity, enabling regulations and strengthening parliamentary capacity are necessary in order to ensure that political parties are representative and democratic, and fulfil their roles and obligations.

The UN Department of Peacekeeping seems hesitant to engage in strengthening political capacity, such as supporting the development of political party platforms. This is probably because of a concern for impartiality. However, neglecting political parties may prove detrimental to the active promotion of democratic governance.

Civic education

The UN electoral civic education programme in Afghanistan teamed up with the new Afghan Civil Society Forum, a consortium of national NGOs and civil society organisations established with the support of bilateral donors. 41 It went relatively well during the constitutional process that was implemented by a national team, but during the electoral

⁴¹ The ACSF was contracted for only about 30% of the process for the presidential elections. It was contracted for all provinces except those in Kabul region for the parliamentary elections.

process the programme suffered from time constraints due to the 'projectisation' (see further discussion below) of the political process and lack of a clear and coherent strategy. The educational aspect was compromised mainly because of time constraints, but also due to significant security challenges, and its empowerment impact was limited. During the preparation of the elections for parliament in 2005, people often asked: 'Do I need to vote for Karzai again? I voted for him last year'. 42 Not surprisingly many people in Afghanistan, as in other first-time election countries, voted according to local consensus or personal affiliation. In Afghanistan, the number of female voters was surprisingly high, but when asked why they went to the polling station, the answer often was: 'My husband told me to'. 43 An important opportunity had thus been under-utilized – four years to provide civic education and informing the Afghan people about their democratic rights and duties and to foster local constitutional ownership. Alternatively, there could have been one coherent and comprehensive programme focused on the process and not the event as such, following a logical sequence. That might have prevented the high staff turnover, and resources would have been utilised more effectively.

In East Timor UNTAET did not manage to engage civil society adequately in the civic education programme and faced severe resentment from the national NGO forum. The tense relationship with the local NGO community also affected UNTAET's attempt to establish a national constitutional commission to hold public hearings prior to the elections to the constituent assembly, in order to ensure some kind of public participation. A proposal was finally put before the National Consultative Council but was rejected by the East Timorese members. Instead, UNTAET carried out a rapid constitutional hearing programme and encouraged local participation, in anticipation of increasing local authoritarian and undemocratic tendencies.

In both East Timor and Afghanistan, civic education was treated mostly as an event to prepare people for the ballots – as opposed to a process and way of informing and empowering people to exercise their democratic rights. There was hardly any continuation of civic education after the elections, for instance to explain the implication of the results, what citizens can expect from or engage with the local and national politicians, and how accountability should be exercised.

Sustainability of elections

Building capacity for a national electoral administration (the electoral management body in charge of preparing and facilitating an election including voter registration, ballot procedures, administrative boundaries etc.) is a cornerstone of sustainable democratisation (Reilly, 2002: 126). In East Timor and Afghanistan, the UN established joint national/international electoral management bodies and facilitated visits to electoral commissions as part of the training and capacity-building of national electoral bodies.

The entire political timetable in Afghanistan had been broken down into individual programmes, each of which had to be designed individually with an associated budget. After

⁴²One of the authors monitored several civic education programmes during the different elections in Afghanistan from 2003–2005.

³ EU Electoral Observation surveys, Afghanistan 2005.

the 2004 presidential elections, most of the international electoral staff left and funding ceased. The national assembly election had to go through the same time-consuming process: programme design, resource mobilisation and contracting staff. Six months before election day, very little was in place and local capacity was simply not adequate to undertake such comprehensive tasks, even though this was almost four years after the start of the Bonn agreement. The UN electoral specialists made it clear to the UN leadership that meeting the deadline of the Bonn process would leave no opportunity for capacity-building. In May 2005, the Joint Electoral Management body, in collaboration with the UN and the government, initiated a working group to develop a strategy for holding future elections, but the question of how it should be implemented was handed over to the UNDP, which had been involved in the elections from the outset.

Financial resources and the danger of 'projectisation'

The budget has major implications for whether minimum or maximum approaches are chosen. The two peace operations assessed here were equipped with very different financial resources for democracy-related activities. The degree of availability of financial resources sets important parameters for the degree to which missions can plan and find synergies between democracy initiatives. In East Timor most election activities were funded through the UN assessed budget, and funding was not a constraint. 44 In Afghanistan, by contrast, UNAMA relied heavily on voluntary contributions for individual project proposals in order to finance democracy initiatives. This introduced uncertainties and made long-term planning difficult.⁴⁵ 'In Afghanistan money was always a problem. Voluntary contributions are not a way to run an election – we were always short of cash that delayed the process (such as procurement)' said a senior UN electoral officer.46 There, the UNDP has administered the largest shares of the funds for democratisation initiatives. UN staff point to an important advantage that the UNDP has over UNSC-mandated activities. Unlike the UN secretariat, UNDP can initiate projects on the basis of commitment, due to its greater ability to achieve funding by direct resource mobilisation also at country level. This, in turn, may help to ensure a more timely initiation of projects, but the electoral experts report to the SRSG and not the UNDP. The lack of clarity of mandates, reporting lines and accountability is an obstacle to the effectiveness of the UNprovided electoral support.

Experience has shown that the international attention span for a peace operation, and thus the financial assistance, generally averages about two to four years. The risk of donor fatigue becomes an additional time-pressure factor for the political transition and especially the holding of elections.⁴⁷

⁴⁴ Interview, May 2006.

⁴⁵ The cost of elections is normally financed by the assessed budget by the General Assembly, but when a mission depends on voluntary funding, like UNAMA, the need to demonstrate visible changes become even more urgent. said a senior UN electoral officer. The total costs of the electoral process from 2003 to 2006 – including voter registration, presidential and national assembly elections, and capacity-building, amount to approximately USD 340.6 million.

⁴⁶ NUPI interview May 2006.

⁴⁷ NUPI interview, May 2006.

The democratisation process in Afghanistan was broken down into individual and time-bound programmes for the development of a constitution and elections with separate and limited budgets in order to mobilise funds. This 'projectisation' of the political development process caused interruptions and delays due to time-consuming resource mobilisation, the unclear division of labour and roles among the various UN bodies, the breakdown of institutional memory and high turnover of staff. There is a great risk that 'projectisation' will be the trend in future peace operations as the General Assembly's assessed budget contributions are declining.

Human rights and democratisation

Respect for human rights is fundamental to any viable democratisation process, and human rights have become almost a standing mandate of all contemporary peace operations. Human rights monitoring is important for the transparent vetting of recruited government officials, in order to help bring about an end to impunity. Human Rights Commissions were established in both East Timor and Afghanistan, but the main difference was that in Afghanistan the commission was national supported by a couple of international advisors.

Progress in the protection of human rights is often constrained by a very weak judiciary and lack of the rule of law. Rebuilding a judiciary and establishing the rule of law are complicated and long-term tasks that involve both the need for establishing justice (transitional justice such as truth seeking, reconciliation and possibly trials), and building a legal system. Rule of law is a long-term endeavour that involves democratic oversight mechanisms, significant institutional development and capacity-building and is closely inter-linked with security sector reform. East Timor and Afghanistan are no exceptions to this, but the judiciaries in both countries are complicated by the mosaic of legal sources, which include remnants of past regimes, international law, customary law and practices, UN regulations (in East Timor), and the dominance of Islamic law (in Afghanistan).

Achievements, challenges and lessons learned

UNTAET may from an initial assessment be perceived as applying a maximum approach given its excessive mandate, large number of staff and resources. The UNTAET was relatively successful in the broader aspects of state-building, and fundamental functions and structures were put in place. The media and public information received considerable support, and UNTAET's public information office was the first to become *Timorised*. However, democratisation was not a high priority during implementation. Achievements were limited – the main one being a gradual transition of government responsibility through a structure of co-governance, which emerged at the request of the East Timorese, who otherwise threatened to resign. (Chesterman, 2004: 140.) Elections to a constituent assembly took place almost two years into the mission, and presidential elections were held in May 2004. Preparations for these democratic processes were relatively scarce in terms of civic education, public consultations and national capacity-building. The UNTAET may be said to have applied a *minimum* approach in regard to state-building and democratisation despite the potential for a *maximum* peace operation.

⁴⁸ Interview June 2006. The UNDP has commissioned an independent electoral audit of the elections in Afghanistan. The report, titled 'UN Election Evaluation Mission 2006, Reports 1 & 2, Afghanistan Election Evaluation Mission, May 2006', forthcoming Margie Cook et al.

Parts of the national leadership, mainly associated with the national party Freitlin, reproduced authoritarian leadership tendencies. Initially UNTAET stood up against them, but as Freitlin gained power and won the majority of seats in the constituent assembly, political developments became less democratic. The constituent assembly revised initial draft constitutions in favour of a stronger parliamentary system and managed to turn the constituent assembly into a national parliament by a vote among the assembly members, even though that was in conflict with the constitution. (See Goldstone, 2005.) The importance of establishing parliamentary oversight mechanisms, including over the security apparatus, vaporised – likewise regarding check and balances in government. Despite the earlier emphasis on political pluralism, East Timor gradually became more of a one-party state.

In Afghanistan, UNAMA applied the principle of local ownership and fostered national decision-making. Its main democratisation achievements were that a basic foundation for state structures was provided (including a new constitution, the creation of commissions for acceleration of state-building and reform processes for the judicial and administrative governance, human rights protection and elections). Relative stability was achieved through inclusion and bargaining, although this also compromised democratic standards due to lack of vetting processes or transparent recruitment. A national legitimate leadership was established by democratic elections to the post of head of state and to the national assembly.

Limited international stabilisation assistance and inadequate support for building a domestic security sector in Afghanistan constrained broad political participation as well as economic and social development, particularly in the south and east of the country. Lack of reconciliation and limited time to build political trust before holding elections in combination with the exclusion of political parties left a limited legacy in terms of entrenching a broad-based democratic culture. Even though UNAMA was a 'light' peace operation, it embarked on a maximum democratisation strategy with primary focus on democracy and good governance.

In East Timor, UNTAET was centralised and hierarchical, which adversely affected attempts to build a sub-national administration. The Afghan Transitional Administration applied a principle of centralisation before delegation of fiscal and administrative authority, in an attempt to curtail the powers of the regional warlords. However, the lack of decentralisation of reconstruction assistance left limited space for the population and civic groups to have a say in the peacebuilding process. With both the decision-making process and resources centralised in the capital and operated in a top-down manner, it became difficult to show visible progress on the ground, and that has adversely affected public confidence in the new government, leaving many expectations unfulfilled.

Full use was not made of the opportunities that electoral or constitutional processes can offer. Consolidation of the initial push towards democracy may have been hampered for several reasons: Civic education usually stopped with the election event; investment in addressing root causes of conflict was not an articulated concern, and an overly tight deadline for implementing the elements of a political process for state-building was not

balanced with adequate investment and institutional development and capacity-building of the public sector including minimal good governance measures. This we have seen in the cases of both East Timor and Afghanistan.

UNTAET had all the opportunities for applying a maximum democratisation strategy but opted for a minimum strategy. From this brief examination, it is difficult to explain why. One reason may have been that East Timor was perceived as a *terra nullis*. Therefore there was no concerted ambition to accelerate the *Timorisation* process in the area of political governance, and hence no consultation on a political timetable or clear strategy. The UNTAET strategy shares some affinity with Roland Paris' suggestion of institutionalising before liberalising, but liberalisation became less democratic in the end.

An ambitious electoral timetable like that in Afghanistan is a risky path to take when the underpinning institutions and structures are not adequately developed. A legitimate government may be established in terms of process – but it is difficult to turn it into a credible government if the structures and capacity are inadequate and constrain its performance, including the provision of basic services. The Bonn process and its further elaboration did not encourage a comprehensive approach to the rapid political development process, which in turn poses questions regarding its sustainability, given the lack of check and balances, rising levels of corruption and deteriorating security. At the risk of oversimplification, we may say that the two examples show that neither institutionalisation nor liberalisation can succeed in isolation: they need to be paired and sequenced.

UN peace operation type and democratisation strategy

	Maximum	Minimum
Major UN role in		
transition admini-		
stration		East Timor
Significant national		
ownership	Afghanistan	

7. Policy options and possible risks: Maximum and minimum democratisation

In previous chapters, we identified the ambiguity and incoherence between intentions, planning and implementation. More specifically this involved the absence of a comprehensive strategy for binding them together and the lack of practical understanding of the inter-relatedness between the various components of democratisation. Here we discuss two main options for how the UN best can promote democracy: through maximum or minimum democratisation.

The Minimum option

This is an option which, aside from working to ensure the conduct of an initial election or a formation of a new national government through a consultative process, adopts a 'hands-off policy' in relation to political processes and the development of government institutions in a host country. Within the parameters of a minimum option, a new government is perceived to be best suited for carrying out the state-building process; any external assistance would focus on providing security and domestic stability. At a later stage it may be desirable for outside actors to offer support to democratisation efforts – but structures associated with the UN secretariat will take little part in these subsequent and longer-term efforts.

The main argument for a minimum approach is that a political system and a state cannot be created by external actors but should develop from within. Stressing that states cannot be built from the outside, Chesterman et al. (2004) emphasise that the lack of a clear and consistent definition of state-building 'contributes to incoherent policy response and practical consequences of the weakening of state-institutions'. The general ambiguous end-state of UN peace operations causes confusion that affects the planning of an exit strategy. Chesterman et al. criticise the notion of local ownership for being overly vague, with more psychological than political import and therefore of limited value.

Another argument for a minimum approach is the belief that international political will to support long-term efforts at political transition is limited; further, that the lack of cohesiveness risks creating donor-dependence: hence, the 'notion of imposing liberal democracy is a pipedream'. (Zisk Marten, 2004: 146–60) At the extreme end of the 'minimal-ist-scale', Zisk Marten recommends that the UN and international community should engage only in 'security building'.

This strategy may be appropriate if indigenous political institutions and a legitimate national authority are in place. In such a scenario, the role of the UN would be primarily to ensure a stable environment, including the facilitation of political dialogue. However, we see several risks involved in applying a minimum strategy. These we have summarised into five headings.

Minimum risk 1: snowball effect - limited involvement triggers the need for more

Even minimal political engagement by way of ensuring the formation of a new government may still represent significant interference in domestic politics. Can the UN remain a detached bystander when it has already become involved in key post-war political processes in a country? A central risk associated with the minimum strategy is that UN involvement may require further responsive and responsible assistance. Early and quick elections may risk destabilising an existing fragile situation. An example is Liberia, with UN assistance to the elections that brought Charles Taylor to power in 1997. He quickly moved away from democratic practices and the rule of law, and plunged the country into further violent chaos. Security and elections may not be enough to trigger a political transition or peacebuilding. The UN might find itself unprepared when faced with the challenge of having to ensure that fundamental grievances are resolved and that state institutions are strong enough to offer a check on newly elected leaders.

Minimum risk 2: new centralisation and unaccountable leaders

National elections may centralise the political power, generate a capital bias, neglect the need to strengthen local government, and limit the outreach of assistance and services. This seems to have been the case in both Afghanistan and East Timor, where elections have weakened the confidence in the central government and given rise to suspicions of corruption and deliberate local neglect because of ethnicity or other reasons. There is a risk that early local elections before human rights criteria are introduced and basic political administrative structures are in place, with clear delineation of authority between central and local government, may serve to empower illegal politico-military networks and 'warlordism' (EU Electoral Observation Mission, 2005: 40). A potential lack of enforcement of human rights standards would also continue a culture of impunity typically associated with the war years. Many of these tendencies can already be identified in Afghanistan.

Minimum risk 3: inability to sustain democratisation

War-torn societies have often experienced a total institutional breakdown. In such a context, as Roland Paris notes, political liberalisation may not be self-regulating.⁴⁹ Instead the competition may generate causes for new grievances and continued violence. In a context of weak institutions, the institutional void may get filled by non-statutory local power brokers and corrupt politicians, undermining a nascent democratisation process.

Minimum risk 4: unfulfilled expectations

Elections raise voter expectations with regard to peace, prosperity and good governance. If the elected successor regimes do not manage to fulfil these expectations, credibility will quickly be weakened. Transitions may also cause uncertainty about the future, and may be complicated by opportunistic behaviour with regard to the sudden influx of aid. The combination of transitions, post-conflict reconstruction and quick elections pose a significant challenge to the political managerial skills of the new regime.

⁴⁹ Paris (2005) also argues that promotion of liberalisation of the political sphere through elections is not self-enforcing, but is a high-risk path full of pitfalls.

Minimum risk 5: perpetuating the role of civil war actors

Compressed political timetables may override the need to identify and vet local partners. Lack of information about local political and social organisations may create fear of engagement with indigenous structures because of the risk of increased factionalism. The lack of investment in local relationships and spaces for dialogue between internal and external actors may cause resentment towards the UN and hinder efficient strengthening of the democratic foundation of the country. (See WSP, 2004; Ammitzbøll et al., 2004.)

Possible risks of early and quick elections

- ☐ Holding elections too early may mean the risk of destabilising a fragile political security situation and undermining the longer-term democratisation efforts.
- □ Early elections imply a quiet acceptance of compromising the standard and neglect of capacity-building unclear of the national electoral administration.
- ☐ The risk of inadequate capacity-building with regard to local electoral administration has implications for sustainability. The international assistance community may be asked to repeat its efforts at the next electoral cycle.
- □ Relatively early elections do not allow for sufficient time to prepare the voters for democratisation through an effective civic education programme, and may raise unrealistic expectations.
- Early elections may create a new but weak government and undermine its credibility if assistance to building political managerial capacity and public sector institutions has not been matched in order to ensure the government is able to per-

Maximum option

The exit strategy used to be elections, but now it is really the capacity of new legitimate authorities... It is linked to the establishment of a credible, professional and loyal army and police, ... extension of state authority throughout the country and the capacity to develop basic services, DDR, and resettlement of refugees and IDPs

Senior DPKO Official, UNHQ January 2005, quoted from Call, 2005:10

The underlying assumption for a maximum strategy is that external assistance can create successful conflict transformation and peacebuilding. In a maximum strategy, security and elections are elements of a larger endeavour towards ensuring political transition. Elections are regarded as part of a broader process, and not as an end in itself. A broader democratisation process would entail support for the rule of law, democratic administrative governance, continued civic education to promote political diversity and pluralism, and support to the media and civil society.

Understanding the local context and bottom-up democratisation

A maximum approach implies considerable knowledge and understanding of the dynamics of local politics and social organisation. Building local partnerships and stimulating democratisation from below are important. As was the case in Sierra Leone, local elections can strengthen the tie between state and society, since local electoral issues tend to concentrate on specific development issues and service delivery directly related to the

individual or local community. Decentralisation of decision-making may ensure that resources better respond to local needs and reach the grassroots level. The strengthening of local government may constitute an important building block for the overall democratisation and peacebuilding process (Risley and Sisk, 2005:14) – if authority and resource use are delegated and there is adequate local managerial capacity.

Enabling formal and informal political actors and building a political culture

A precondition for a successful democratisation is an active and political citizenry or civil society, meaning the arena between the state and the household within which assemblies are formed around ideas and beliefs. Dahl (2000: 51) argues that a sustainable democracy needs to be nourished by a supportive political culture. A strong civil society may be able to exercise pressure for political changes, as in Liberia, where civil organisations have launched a campaign for good governance. Moreover, civil society can constitute a system of checks and balances on the government and may compensate for weak accountability mechanisms by monitoring government performance, thus encouraging efficiency.

In most peace operations there has been relatively limited understanding of traditional forms of political and social organisation.⁵¹ 'Civil society' is a broad term, but in practice in peace missions it is often associated only with formal and Western-style NGOs. This ignores traditional structures like local councils and religious institutions. There seems to be a lack of methodology for how to assess, vet and reach out to local actors and informal institutional organisations. The UN and various international organisations tend to apply a hands-off policy, for fear of losing impartiality if they get involved with local politics or interests. The vagueness of the concept may result in an overly narrow understanding of the important development of interaction between state and society, and local actors and international organisations, which can assist with building the country from within using indigenous capacity. Instead of singling out the various actors, local transformation could be analysed through a framework of interaction (see Pouligny, 1999).

Working with the media

The media can play a critical role in peacebuilding, transition and democratisation by capturing the social reality and transmitting information about progress and challenges to the people at large. The media may be instrumental in transforming disagreements into open debates and may forge consensus and reconciliation. On the other hand, the media may also be instrumental in aggravating grievances, as shown by the tragic case of Rwanda. Thus it is vital to invest in capacity-building and encourage accountable journalism. During a process of democratic transformation, communication becomes central for harmonising perceptions of democratisation and managing expectations

As well as in minimal options there are several risks associated with maximum strategies, here summarised into five clusters.

⁵⁰ In the case of Sierra Leone, there are, however, signs that the momentum from the local elections in 2003 has not been adequately followed up by a systematic plan for decentralisation, leaving most of the local communities isolated with only little financial and administrative assistance from the centre. (See ICG, 2003.)

⁵¹ It should be stressed that UNAMA aimed to be different and tried actively to recruit staff with prior Afghanistan experience.

Maximum risk 1: unintended consequences of deep-seated UN involvement

A UN peace operation with a maximum mandate could easily move towards taking over the control of domestic affairs, overshadowing local actors and disempowering local leaders. The UN may also risks becoming hostage to certain political groupings that use the privileges generated by a peace operation to serve their interests.

Maximum risk 2: overly high demands on time, preparation and UN expertise

A maximum approach requires a comprehensive needs assessment, feasibility studies, careful analysis of local dynamics and actors, and a large and intelligent response to the different and interlinked needs at the same time. For instance, support for the decentralisation of political authority and local civil society actors may risk empowering local illegal powerbrokers or existing informal but repressive leaders. The UN system will need investment in its capacity and ability to carry out a long-term and comprehensive operation and also for establishing solid institutions.

Maximum risk 3: inconsistency between intentions versus planning skills and availability of required funds

A successful maximum approach requires consistency between intentions, resources and time-lines, sequencing and matching of distribution and prioritisation assistance to political development process, state capacity and security. Where there is not adequate political will and funding for a comprehensive strategy, the result may be an imbalanced approach with inconsistent sequencing. In order to tackle this risk, the UN system will have to do more *pro-active* strategising and co-ordinating.

Maximum risk 4: foregoing the UN's neutrality

A comprehensive and partly intrusive approach to democratisation and peacebuilding after conflict may challenge the UN's commitment to political neutrality. Moreover, the UN may at times be compelled to act decisively so as to avoid the human rights dilemma: the compromising of security standards and prevalence of culture of impunity in the state administration.

Maximum risk 5: the 'laundry list' syndrome

A comprehensive approach may risk augmenting the 'laundry list syndrome'. Major UN interventions easily trigger the 'bureaucratic logic of giving every agency, fund, programme and department a share of the pie, without exercising strategic judgement about what the genuine priorities are and ensuring they receive resources, even if other important but less urgent sectors go un-funded' (Call, 2005: 5–6). The UN Joint Needs Assessment in Liberia in 2004 for peacebuilding and democratisation singled out as many as twenty 'priority sectors' (ibid.).

There are considerable risks associated with both minimum and maximum strategies which policy-makers, planners and implementers should be aware of. It is crucial that the potential risks likely to emerge in different country contexts are taken into account when deciding on appropriate democratisation strategies for specific countries.

8. Concluding comments

This report has sought to shed light on some of the deep-seated challenges associated with democratisation. We have noted the stark contrast between the bold commitment to broad democratisation in peace operations as outlined in central UN policy documents⁵² since the early 1990s, and, on the other hand, the failure to develop operational concepts, guidelines or planning procedures that can help to ensure that these commitments are followed through. There have been few attempts within the UN system at systematically gathering best practices and lessons learned on democratisation in peace operation.

Similarly, we have noted the absence of references to 'democracy' in UN Security Council mandates despite the overall rhetorical commitment in policy documents. Mandates nevertheless usually indirectly carve out a political space for doing democratisation and elections have indeed been central in most peace operations. There are typically clear instructions for conducting elections; and, increasingly throughout the 1990s, mandates have entrenched principles of human rights, strengthening local media and calling on missions to restructure or re-establish viable governing institutions in host countries. Taken together, these elements of mandates constitute a call for democratisation – whereas the absence of references to democracy and democratisation indicate ambivalence in relation to these aims within the UN system.

The case material assessed for this report revealed the extent to which peace agreements tend to serve central strategic functions in relation to UN democratisation efforts in specific post-conflict situations. Peace agreements often become organising concepts around which the UN develops democratisation initiatives in the field. This is a positive feature, because it tends to enhance local ownership. However, there also seems to be little strategic thinking in the UN on how best to capitalise on the provisions in peace agreements and ensure that they form a solid basis for entrenching democracy.

This report is not the first to identify the lack of strategic vision within the UN system – emphasising this issue adds little new to the study of UN peace operations. (See, for example, Norwegian Ministry of Foreign Affairs, 2004.) Nevertheless, it is worth noting that in the context of democratisation there seem to be gaps in strategic thinking on two levels in the UN system. We have noted the apparent lack of sufficient thinking at the headquarters level on how varieties of democratisation strategies can best be implemented and which actors within the UN system are most suited to take lead roles in line with their respective 'comparative advantages'. At the country level, there seem to be no strategies, templates or guidance to mission staff on how best to interact with political actors and generate systematic knowledge on formal and informal political processes.

The lack of strategy coupled with failure to develop tangible goals for democratisation efforts have important implications. It is difficult to incorporate adequate accountability

⁵² Report of the panel on United Nations Peace Operations A/557305-S 2000/809, 2005 World Summit Outcome A/60/L.1.

measures when goals and strategies are left undefined. Who should be responsible for success and failures in democratisation? Existing procedures do not seem to address this issue adequately.

Democratisation is a relevant test case for the extent to which the UN manages to transform overall visions and commitments into corresponding strategies, to adjust organisational structures, and to ensure the implementation of new policies derived from novel visions. Our findings would indicate that while the rhetoric and attempted actions of UN peace operations have evolved and become increasingly sophisticated both in relation to democratisation and in relation to overall peacebuilding, there have been few changes in UN organisational structures, staffing levels, planning and doctrine development. There also seems to be a tendency to 'projectisation': individual and externally funded projects together coming to constitute an overall but perhaps poorly co-ordinated democratisation strategy.

Without an increase in resources and organisational streamlining, the goal of sustainable democratisation within UN peace operations seems difficult to obtain. Moreover, the UN might well ask itself: which of its branches has the best 'comparative advantage' to take the lead in the democratisation sphere? The Electoral Assistance Division (EAD) holds sophisticated expertise on elections-related issues and could perhaps usefully assume an expanded role where it addressed the need for development of political platforms, broader and longer-term civic education and capacity-building in host countries. There are also several relevant democratisation-related initiatives on field levels by UN agencies (UN country teams) and non-UN organisations, but there is a lack of systematic approach to linking these various programmes within an overall strategy. Co-ordination of headquarters and pre-planned initiatives ready for implementation leaves scant margin for flexibility and adjustment at the field level.

The issue of timing and long-term efforts are central challenges that deserve greater attention. What should be the role of the UNDP and other country team agencies? If there is to be integration, then at what stage of the process? and how much in regard to mandate and tasks should the UN country team contribute? If a broad-based, maximum type of democratisation strategy is to be implemented, it might be that UN country teams are best suited to take the lead – given that they will stay on in the country once the peace operation terminates.

A key purpose behind highlighting both possible constraints as well as possibilities in this report has been to encourage greater flexibility, care and coherence in the design of democracy initiatives in UN peace operations. In our view, democratisation strategies should be designed according to developments in at least three clusters of issues: the political context in the host country; the number of peace keeping troops and security conditions; and the level of financial and political commitment to long-term peace in the host country on the part of external powers. These three variables may call for different variants of either maximum or minimum democracy promotion.

This report is issued just as the new Peacebuilding Commission (PBC) is commencing its

54

work. The PBC has been charged with bringing 'together all relevant actors to marshal resources and to advise on and propose integrated strategies for post-conflict peacebuilding and recovery', and to 'focus attention on the reconstruction and institution-building efforts necessary for recovery from conflict and support the development of integrated strategies in order to lay the foundations for sustainable development'. If the PBC is to contribute to the advancement of democracy in peace operations, it must be provided with sufficient funding as well as a substantial function and authority. Disputes over leadership and role hamper current democratisation efforts by UN actors. The PBC could usefully serve as the overall administrator to ensure coherence and clarity on how the UN is to do democratisation as part of its overall peacebuilding efforts. Our stock-taking of democratisation in UN peace operations has revealed the serious lack of strategies on how best to do democratisation. The PBC could prove to be the needed engine for finally pushing forward attempts at developing doctrines and principles for UN actions in the sphere of democratisation.

This report has been intended to stimulate thinking on the various ways in which the UN could aim to make democratisation a part of peace operations. Strategic clarity, prioritisation and better sequencing of efforts will need to be improved if the UN is to achieve its ambitious peacebuilding and democracy agenda – it is to be hoped that the PBC can bring in the necessary focus, consistency and funding for this.

Democratisation: issues for consideration: policy-makers and planners

- What types of democratisation efforts work best in specific contexts?
- Should UN operations focus on core functions such as security and early elections and leave the broader aspects of democratisation to other actors such as the UN country team, Bretton Woods, bilaterals and NGOs?
- Is there a need for strategic guidelines for democratisation and for more investment put into strengthening cohesion between the various UN actors?
- What are the best ways of sequencing political liberalisation, security, state-building and non-state aspects of democratisation?
- How should funding be allocated assessed budget versus voluntary funding, with the possible risk of either 'short-termism' or 'projectisation' of the democratic political development process?
- In what ways can local counterparts best be involved in the planning and operation of democratisation activities by UN peace operations?

_

⁵³ 2005 World Summit Outcome A/60/L.1.

⁵⁴ The 2005 report of the Special Committee on Peacekeeping Operations (A/59/19) recommended various improvements for UN peacekeeping. One recommendation was to step up efforts to develop generic peacekeeping policies, procedures and guidelines. The Secretary-General has since reported that while there have been some improvements the Secretary has so far been prevented from putting in place a 'mechanism for the elaboration, promulgation and dissemination for United Nations policies and practices in peacekeeping'. At the same time, however, the Secretary acknowledged the increasing need for this: 'the growing complexity of peacekeeping mandates is expanding the range of issues for which clear and consistent policies are required'. (A/60/640 point 14, page 5).

Annexes.

Annex 1: AREU: A Path to Peace? Post-Conflict Elections 1992–2002

	ELECTIONS	OUTCOME	PRECONDITIONS
Kosovo	2002 2001 2000	Peaceful elections deemed 'free and fair.' Kosovo effectively governed as UN protectorate with increasing resentment from elected officials and broader population.	Strong and continuing presence of UN and multi-national peacekeeping force.
East Timor	2001 2002	Peaceful elections won by Freitlin party, which had led struggle for independence.	External threat (Indonesia-based militias) removed by strong UN peace-keeping presence. UN peacekeeping forces still in country.
Liberia	1997	Charles Taylor, most powerful factional leader, elected because of widespread fear that if he lost, the country would return to civil war. Elections ratified power structures created by seven years of civil war. Continued national and regional instability and violence leading to foreign intervention in Liberia in August 2003.	Continued violence and brutality.
Bosnia- Herze- govina	1996 +	Widespread voter intimidation and ethnic engineering through electoral fraud. Replicated existing power structures. Leaders opposed to new state were strengthened.	Decision to proceed with elections so soon after Dayton Agreement (1995) highly controversial. Peace agreement allowed opposing forces to maintain armed capabilities.
El Salvador	1994	Effective political transformation under relatively strong interim regime.	Successful demobilisation supported and monitored by UN. Relative demilitarisation of politics. Peace accords held.
Mozam- bique	1994	Tactical voting balanced two powerful parties by choosing ruling FERMILO candidate as president but RENAMO candidates for parliament.	Relatively strong interim government restored peace and reduced fear. Demobilisation of RENAMO; transformation to political party. Peace agreement held.
South Africa	1994	Peaceful, 'substantially free and fair elections' held with widespread participation and legitimacy.	Internally-driven constitution-making process involving extensive consultation, negotiation and compromise. Strong traditions of grass-roots politics.
Cambodia	1993	Technically successful elections followed by a forced reversal of the result and then a departure of UN & international forces. A coup against the royalist FUNCINPEC party led to a return to political intimidation and authoritarian rule.	Relatively strong interim administra- tion had reduced instability and fear. Local human rights organisations developed during this period.
Angola	1992	Failed to end the decades old civil war, when UNITA leader Jonas Savimbi refused to accept his party's defeat.	Failure to fully disarm and demobilise the warring armies prior to the election. Inadequate resources and leadership from international community.

(from AREU 2003: 8)

Annex 2: Budgeted and actual costs of elections in Afghanistan 2003–2006

2004-2005 Afghan Elections Phase I

•Voter Registration Project: 14 August 2003 – 20 August 2004

Objective: The creation of an enabling environment for eligible voters to register for the October 2004 presidential elections. Budget: \$95.4m Final Costs: \$92.2m

•2004 Presidential Elections: 1 May 2004 – 30 December 2004

Objective: To build on the achievements of the voter registration project by supporting the organisation of free and fair presidential elections in October 2004. Budget: \$81.4m Final Costs: \$71.7m

Transitional Costs: December 2004 – March 2005 Final Costs: \$3.7m

2004–2005 Afghan Elections Phase II

•2005 National Assembly Elections: 28 March 2005 – 31 December 2005

Objective: To support the organisation of accepted and legitimate National Assembly elections in 2005, creating a durable foundation for national management of accepted and legitimate elections in the future.

Budget: \$159m Final Costs: \$172m Resources Mobilised (as of 21 February 2006): \$157m

2004-2005 Afghan Elections Phase II Extended

•Transitional Support to the Independent Election Commission: 15 Nov 2005 – 20 March 2006

Objective: To address the needs of the IEC – to sustain operations and ensure budgetary independence – during the transitional period leading up to the new Afghan fiscal year 1385, with the ultimate goal of establishing a fully national, independent commission with the ability to undertake future elections.

Budget: \$2.9m Resources Mobilised: \$900,000

Total costs USD 340.6 Million: 55

Source: UNDP Afghanistan

⁵⁵ Including mobilized resources for 'Afghan Elections Phase II Extended' of USD 900,000.

References

- Ahmed, Salman, 2003. Evaluation of the Afghanistan/UNAMA IMTF to the Special Committee on Peacekeeping Operations, DPKO, 11 March
- Ahmed, Salman, 2005. 'No size fits all', Foreign Affairs, January/February
- Ammitzbøll, K.; S. Mamound, H. Natiq, D. Poplack and A.W. Sediqi, 2004. *Building Effective Partnerships –External and Internal Actors*. Afghanistan case study prepared for the WSP International Peace-building Forum, 7 October, New York
- AREU, 'A Path to Peace? Post-Conflict Elections (1992–2002)', 2003, AREU Briefing paper, November 2003, available at http://www.areu.org.af/publications/AREU%20Elections%20Brief.pdf Accessed 31 May 2006
- Boutros-Ghali, B., 1996. An Agenda for Democratisation. New York: United Nations
- Call, Charles, 2005. *Institutionalizing Peace: A Review of Post-Conflict Peacebuilding Concepts and Issues for DPA*, United Nations: Department of Political Affairs
- Call, C.; Cook, S., 2003. 'On democratization and peacebuilding', Global Governance, 9
- Carothers, Thomas, 2002. 'The end of the transition paradigm', *Journal of Democracy*, 13 (1): 5–21
- Carothers, Thomas, 1999. *Aiding Democracy Abroad: The Learning Curve,* Washington, DC: Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, quoted in Laborate, 2003
- Chesterman, Simon, 2004. 'Building democracy through benevolent autocracy: consultation and accountability in UN transitional administrations', in Newman and Rich, eds
- Chesterman, Simon, 2005. You, The People The United Nations, Transitional Administration, and State-Building. Oxford: Oxford University Press
- Chesterman, Simon; Michael Ignatieff and Ramesh Thakur, 2004. *Making States Work*. International Peace Academy and United Nations University Press
- Chopra, Jarat, 2002. 'Building state failure in East Timor', *Development and Change* 33(5):982–83
- Conflict, Security and Development Group, 2003. A Review of Peace Operations: A Case for Change, Afghanistan Study. London: King's College
- Cook, Margie et al, 2006 (forthcoming). *UN Election Evaluation Mission 2006, Reports 1 & 2, Afghanistan Election Evaluation Mission, May 2006.* New York: United Nations Dahl, R., 2000. *On Democracy.* New Haven, CT: Yale University Press
- Downs, G. and S. J. Stedman, 2002. 'Evaluation issues in peace implementation', in S.J. Stedman, D. Rothchild and E. Cousens, eds, *Ending Civil Wars: The Implementation of Peace Agreements*. Boulder, CO: Lynne Rienner.

- Eide, E.B.; A.T. Kaspersen, R. Kent and K. von Hippel, 2005. Report on Integrated Missions Practical Perspective and Recommendations. An Independent Study for UN ECHA Expanded Core Group.
- EU Electoral Observation Mission, 2005. Democracy-building in Afghanistan an integrated dimension for the way forward. Brussels/Kabul: European Commission.
- Farer, Tom J., 2004. 'The promotion of democracy: international law and norms', in Newman and Rich, eds
- Goldstone, Anthony, 2004. 'UNTAET with hindsight: peculiarities of politics in an incomplete state', *Global Governance*, 10 (1) 83–98
- Griffin, M. and B. Jones, 2000. 'Building peace through transitional authority: new directions, major challenges', *International Peacekeeping*, 7 (4)
- Grugel, Jean, 2002. Democratization: A Critical Introduction. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan
- Hohe, Tanja, 2002a. 'The clash of paradigms: international administration and local political legitimacy in East Timor', *Contemporary South East Asia*, 24(3)
- Hohe, Tanja, 2002b. 'Totem polls: indigenous concepts and free and fair elections in East Timor', *Journal of International Peacekeeping*, 9 (4): 69–88
- ICG, 2003. Sierra Leone: The State of Security and Governance, Africa Report N°67, 2 September 2003, http://www.crisisgroup.org/home/index.cfm?id=1492&l=1 Accessed 11 May 2006
- Jarstad, Anna, 2005. *International Assistance to Democratisation in Bosnia and Herze-govina, Kosovo and Macedonia*. Uppsala: Department of Peace and Conflict Research, Uppsala University
- Kumar, C. and E. M. Cousens, 2001. *Peacebuilding as Politics: Cultivating Peace in Fragile Societies*. Boulder, CO: Lynne Rienner
- Labonte, Melissa, 2003. 'Dimensions of postconflict peacebuilding and democratization', *Global Governance* 9: 261–272
- Lijphart, Arend and Jamal Benomar, 2004. 'Constitutions for divided societies', *Journal of Democracy*, 15(2)
- Mansfield, E.D. and J. L. Snyder, 2005. *Electing to Fight: Why Emerging Democracies Go to War*. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press
- Newman, Edward and Roland Rich, eds, 2004. *The UN Role in Promoting Democracy:* Between Ideals and Reality. Tokyo: United Nations University
- Norwegian Ministry of Foreign Affairs, 2004. *Towards a Strategic Framework for Peacebuilding: Getting Their Act Together* Overview report of the Joint Utstein Study of Peacebuilding, Evaluation Report 1/2004, Oslo: MFA.

- Ottaway, Marina, 2002. 'The post war "Democratic Reconstruction Model": Why it can't work', paper presented at the Brown University Watson Institute for International Studies conference 'Building Democracy after war? State-of-the-Art thinking about governance and peace building', April 2002
- Paris, Roland, 2005. *At War's End Building Peace After Civil Conflict*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press
- Pouligny, Béatrice, 1999. 'Peacekeepers and social actors: The need for dynamic, cross-cultural analysis', *Global Governance*, 5 (4): 403–424.
- Pouligny, Béatrice, 2000. 'Promoting democratic institutions in post-conflict societies: giving diversity a chance', *International Peacekeeping*, 7 (3): 17–35:
- Reilly, Benjamin, 2002. 'Post-conflict elections: constraints and dangers', *International Peacekeeping*, 9 (2): 118–139
- Rich, Roland, 2004. 'Crafting Security Council mandates', in Newman and Rich eds
- Risley, P. and T. Sisk, 2005. *Democracy and United Nations Peace-building at the Local Level: Lessons Learned*. Stockholm: International Institute of Democracy and Electoral Assistance
- Scott, James, 1998. Seeing Like a State: How Certain Schemes to Improve the Human Condition Have Failed. New Haven, CT: Yale University Press
- Sens, Allen, 2004. 'The United Nations and peace-building: building the (liberal) peace?', in Richard Price and Mark Zacher, *The United Nations and Global Security*. London: Palgrave
- Snyder, J. L. (2000). From Voting to Violence: Democratization and Nationalist Conflict. New York: W.W. Norton
- Subianto, Landry Haryo (n.d.), 'A State in The Making: The Role of UNTAET in East Timor', Council for Asia Europe Co-operation (CAEC): 4 http://www.caec-asiaeurope.org/Conference/Publications/
- Suhrke, Astri, 2006. 'The limits of statebuilding: the role of international assistance in Afghanistan', paper presented at the International Studies Association annual meeting, San Diego, CA, 21–24 March
- Tschirgi, Necla, 2004. *Post-Conflict Peacebuilding Revisited: Achievements, Limitations, Challenges*, New York: International Peace Academy and WSP International
- United Nations, 2003. *Handbook on Multilateral Peacekeeping Operations*, New York: United Nations
- World Bank, 1999. Report of the Joint Assessment Mission. Washington DC: World Bank
- WSP International, 2004. *Internal and External Actors and the Quality of their Dialogue in Post-Conflict Countries*. Background paper, WSP International.

Zisk Marten, Kimberly, 2004. *Enforcing Peace: Learning from the Imperial Past*. New York: Columbia University Press

Publikasjoner fra NUPI



Internasjonal politikk kommer fire ganger i året, er fagfellevurdert og regnes som det fremste tidsskriftet i Norden på sitt område. Når store begivenheter endrer det internasjonale landskapet, når skillene mellom nasjonal og internasjonal politikk viskes gradvis ut eller når norsk utenrikspolitikk endres, ønsker Internasjonal politikk å være helt i front med å utforske denne utviklingen. Tidsskriftet publiserer fagartikler, debatt og essays både fra Norge og nabolandene.

Abonnement: NOK 360 | abonnement utenfor Norden: NOK 480 | løssalg: NOK 115 porto/postal charge

Nordisk Øst-forum kommer fire ganger i året og er det ledende skandinaviskspråk-lige tidsskriftet på sitt felt. Tidsskriftets ambisjon er å dekke politisk og samfunnsmessig utvikling i en region i stadig rask endring – Sentral- og Øst-Europa og det postsovjetiske området. Tidsskriftet opererer med fagfellevurdering og publiserer fagartikler, essays og bokomtaler.

Abonnement studenter: NOK 285 | abonnement privatpersoner: NOK 350 | institusjoner: NOK 470 enkelthefter: NOK 115 porto/postal charge

Hvor hender det? er artikkelserien som – i konsentrert og forenklet form – gir deg økt innsikt i internasjonale spørsmål. I mange sammenhenger har vi behov for kortfattet framstilling av konflikter og samarbeid, prosesser, utfordringer og utviklingstrekk i det internasjonale samfunnet. HHD fyller dette behovet. HHD finner du også på Internett – nær 150 artikler fra tidligere årganger, men aldri inneværende årgang.

Gruppeabonnement (10 eller flere): NOK 80/ab. | enkeltabonnement: NOK 280 | enkeltabonnement utenfor Norge: 380

Forum for Development Studies har i mange år vært Norges ledende tidsskrift innenfor utviklingsforskning. I senere år har det mer systematisk henvendt seg til beslektede miljøer i Norden med sikte på å bli et Oslo-basert internasjonalt tidsskrift. Siktemålet er å forbedre kvaliteten på norsk og nordisk forskning på utvikling, nord-sør-forhold og bistand. Samtidig ønsker redaksjonen å formidle resultater fra forskningen og stimulere til debatt.

Abonnement: NOK 250 | abonnement utenfor Norden: NOK 330 | løssalg: NOK 140 porto/postal charge

For mer informasjon om publikasjonene:

Norsk Utenrikspolitisk Institutt Postboks 8159 Dep. 0033 Oslo Tel.: [+47] 22 99 40 00 | Fax: [+47] 22 36 21 82 | Internett: www.nupi.no | E-post: pub@nupi.no